

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Exploring Early Childhood Teachers' Experiences When Teaching Phonics With the Letterland Program

Laura A. Winters Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Education Commons

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Laura A. Winters

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Heather Caldwell, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Deborah Focarile, Committee Member, Education Faculty
Dr. Andrea Wilson, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Exploring Early Childhood Teachers' Experiences When Teaching Phonics With the Letterland Program

by

Laura A. Winters

MA, Georgian Court University, 2007

BS, Georgian Court University, 2001

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

In 2015, a small school district in a mid-Atlantic state implemented Letterland, a phonicsbased early reading program, to increase early reading levels. The problem investigated in this study was that, despite district implementation of the Letterland phonics program, early childhood students continued to struggle with mastery of phonics and phonemic awareness skills, suggesting that improvements might be needed in program implementation. The purpose of this project study was to explore the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers who teach phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. The conceptual framework that guided this study was the constructivist theory. The research questions centered around the experiences of teachers and the supports and resources needed to implement the Letterland program successfully from the teachers' perspective. Nine early childhood teachers who had implemented the Letterland program participated in one-on-one interviews. Data were analyzed using inductive coding to identify themes that emerged. The themes that emerged were early childhood educators' experiences of obstacles and barriers, effects of teaching Letterland on teaching practice, Letterland's professional development experiences, teaching experiences prior to Letterland, professional training opportunities necessary to teach students successfully, and tools necessary to teach Letterland. The results of the project study were used to create a 3-day professional development to assist early childhood reading teachers in teaching phonics and phonemic awareness more effectively. This project study may promote positive social change by informing future teachers and administrators on what is needed to adequately prepare early childhood teachers to teach phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program.

Exploring Early Childhood Teachers' Experiences When Teaching Phonics With the Letterland Program

by

Laura A. Winters

MA, Georgian Court University, 2007

BS, Georgian Court University, 2001

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

October 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my husband, William J. Winters, who gave his constant support and encouragement when it was needed the most; to my mother, Gloria F. Woods, who taught me the value of hard work and persistence; and to my four sons, who taught me to never give up and to "just do it."

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	vi
Se	ction 1: The Problem	1
	The Local Problem	1
	Rationale	15
	Definition of Terms	17
	Significance of the Study	18
	Research Questions	19
	Review of the Literature	20
	Conceptual Framework	20
	Constructivism Theory	20
	Review of the Broader Problem	22
	Phonics and Phonemic Awareness	23
	Interventions for Students at Risk	28
	Early Reading Intervention Practices.	29
	Implications	32
	Summary	33
Se	ction 2: The Methodology	34
	Qualitative Research Design and Approach	34
	Participants	35
	Criteria for Selecting Participants	35
	Justification for Number of Participants	36
	Procedure for Gaining Access to Participants	36

	Establishing Researcher–Participant Relationship	37
	Protection of Participant Rights	37
Da	ta Collection	38
	Justification for Data Collection	38
	Data Collection Instruments	38
	Establishing Sufficiency of Data Collection	39
	Process for Collecting and Recording Data	40
	Systems for Keeping Track of Data	40
	Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants	41
	Role of the Researcher	41
Da	ta Analysis	42
	How and When Data Were Analyzed	42
	Evidence of Quality (Trustworthiness)	42
	Procedures for Discrepant Cases	43
Da	ta Analysis Results	43
	Process by Which Data Were Generated, Gathered, and Recorded	44
	Teacher Participants	45
Pro	oblem and Research Questions	45
	Findings in Relation to the Problem and Research Questions	46
	Patterns, Relationships, Themes Aligned With Research Questions	47
	Coding and Theme Development	48
	Research Question 1, Theme 1: Early Childhood Educators' Experiences	48
	Research Ouestion 1. Theme 2: Obstacles and Barriers	51

Research Question 1, Theme 3: Effects of Teaching Letterland on
Teaching Practices
Research Question 1, Theme 4: Letterland's Professional Development
Experiences
Research Question 1, Theme 5: Teaching Experiences Prior to Letterland 54
Research Question 2, Theme 1: Professional Training Opportunities
Necessary to Teach Letterland Successfully to Students
Research Question 2, Theme 2: Tools Necessary to Teach Letterland
Successfully
Handling Discrepant Cases
Evidence of Quality
Findings and Themes in Relation to Literature Review
Conceptual Framework
Summary of Outcomes
Project Based on Outcomes
Section 3: The Project
Rationale66
Review of the Literature on Professional Development
Effective Professional Development Characteristics
Professional Development Impact on Student Achievement
Professional Development Effects on Teachers' Self-Efficacy71
Project Description
Resources

Existing Supports	74
Potential Barriers	75
Potential Solutions to Barriers	75
Proposal for Implementation and Timeline	75
Roles and Responsibilities	76
Project Evaluation Plan	76
Types of Evaluation and Justification	76
Overall Evaluation Goals	77
Key Stakeholders	77
Project Implications	78
Social Change Implications	78
Importance of the Project	78
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	79
Project Strengths and Limitations	79
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	81
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	82
Personal Learning	84
Reflection on Importance of the Work	84
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	85
Implications for Social Change	85
Implications for Methodology	85
Future Research	85

Conclusion	86
References	87
Appendix: The Project	106

List of Tables

Table 1. Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA): Percentage of Students at or	Below
Grade Level, End-of-Year Kindergarten	6
Table 2. Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA): Percentage of Students at or	Below
Grade Level, Middle-of-Year Kindergarten	14
Table 3. Coding Results	48
Table 4. Early Childhood Educators' Experiences	50
Table 5. Obstacles and Barriers	52
Table 6. Effects of Teaching Letterland on Teaching Practices	53
Table 7. Letterland's Professional Development Experiences	54
Table 8. Teaching Experiences Prior to Letterland	55
Table 9. Professional Training Opportunities Necessary to Teach Letterland	
Successfully	57
Table 10. Tools Necessary to Teach Letterland Successfully	58
Table 11. Elements of Professional Development	68

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

In the past 7 years, early childhood teachers in a small school district in a midAtlantic state have struggled with teaching phonemic awareness and phonics. Due to the
large number of students reading below grade level, and the lack of phonemic awareness
and phonics training, teachers were introduced to the Letterland program in 2015, a
supplemental program utilized to address the problem with phonics and phonemic
awareness skills. The problem to be investigated in this study was that, despite district
implementation of the Letterland phonics program, early childhood students continued to
struggle with mastery of phonics and phonemic awareness skills, suggesting that
improvements might be needed in program implementation. According to the district's
supervisor of Title 1 instruction, the teachers and administrators hoped that all children
would benefit from the program.

In 2015, the local school district implemented the Letterland phonics program in Grades K–2 for 40 minutes a day, in addition to the district's reading and writing program. Staff, students, and their families have fully embraced the program, as well as the Letterland characters. On March 17, 2020, the local school district transitioned from in-person learning to virtual learning due to the health-related school closure caused by COVID-19. Students in the local school district received a computer device, through which staff members taught students each day by posting videotaped lessons on their Google Classrooms, allowing students to view their lessons and complete their classwork at any point during the day. Students had to sign in each day, view their lessons, and

complete all classwork, in order for their attendance to count for the day. Teachers and guidance counselors met with their students, especially those considered at risk, on a daily basis using the Google Meet platform. Assessments were still administered, and expectations were still held high; however, it is clear via the data collected that the COVID-19 slide impacted many students, even though the local school district has been back to school full time since September 2020, impacting Letterland and reading levels across all grade levels, as 40+ staff members took advantage of the Families First Coronavirus Response Act to take care of their own children while their schools were closed. On January 4, 2021, almost all staff members returned. The local school district was open for 8 full months of school during the pandemic (September 2020 through April 2021) and had 215 students and 172 staff members contract COVID-19, with almost every positive case being reported as being contracted outside of school. In June 2021, the decision was made to stop utilizing the Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA) and purchase the DIBELS 8 program, which is more inline with measuring and assessing phonics and phonemic awareness. In addition, after administrators reviewed disrict data and took into account COVID-19 learning loss, the decision was made to increase student practice when teaching phonics and phoenemic awareness foundational skills using the ReadBright Program during the 2021–2022 school year.

Phonics is the system of sound-symbol relationships, built on the awareness of the sounds that letters require to construct words (Cunningham, 2011; Ehri, 2005). Many teachers in the local school district were not confident in their ability to implement a phonics and phonemic awareness program, as they had not received in-depth training.

The purpose of this project study was to explore the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers regarding teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. Guided by the constructivist theory, I explored the experiences and perceptions of teachers when teaching phonics and phonemic awareness, their areas of concern and how they addressed them, and the supports and resources needed to become a highly effective teacher.

Researchers endorse the importance of early phonemic literacy skills as essential to learning to read and comprehend (Ehri, 2005; Ehri et al., 2001; Hart & Risley, 1995; Logan et al., 2019). In 1995, Hart and Risley published findings from their benchmark research on early literacy and called the discrepancy between children who were prepared to learn to read and those who were not a catastrophe. In 1997, the U.S. government began to take steps to improve language education. The National Reading Panel (NRP, 2000), authorized by Congress, published its findings and recommendations in 2000. For early learners, phonemic awareness, the ability to hear language, and phonics, the ability to correlate sounds of letters to print, were deemed essential (Cunningham, 2011; Ehri, 2005). For English learners, the NRP placed emphasis on students who were learning new words that contained the new sounds of English through systematic phonics instructions.

Since 1988, there has been an increase in the number of culturally diverse students in the United States (Ghattas & Carver, 2017). Educators across the nation must equitably attend to students with varying backgrounds and skill sets (Ghattas & Carver, 2017). For teachers, addressing the individual needs of students in the literacy classroom

can be extremely challenging. Providing students with a strong foundation in the early grades can prevent them from developing learning gaps and falling behind their gradelevel peers (Scanlon et al., 2016). Children who struggle with early foundational skills in the areas of phonemic awareness and alphabetic knowledge are at risk for enduring reading difficulties (Goldstein et al., 2017).

In order to provide children, especially those considered at risk, with a strong early literacy foundation and prevent them from falling behind their grade-level peers while at the same time increasing their chances of academic success, curriculum should focus on and around phonics and phonemic awareness (Ehri, 2005; Logan et al., 2019; NRP, 2000). Effective reading instruction includes identifying sounds and letter correspondence, phonemic awareness, and decoding, along with personalized instruction based on the diverse needs of students (Cassady et al., 2018). Keesey et al. (2014) noted that students who are poor readers showed limited phonemic awareness as early as first grade. Researchers support common characteristics of children who are most at risk to experience literacy difficulties and who would benefit from reading interventions (Reardon & Portilla, 2016; Snyder & Golightly, 2017). Snyder and Golightly (2017) found that at-risk readers characteristically lack phonemic awareness, lack familiarity with the letters of the alphabet, lack sufficient vocabulary, and lack oral language skills. Given the evidence, it is critical to focus on phonics and phonemic awareness in the early literacy classroom and to ensure that at-risk students have additional opportunities to receive supplemental interventions that focus on these areas.

There are a large number of children in the United States learning English as a second language and in need of reading interventions to catch up to their grade-level peers. Interventions that include vocabulary and reading comprehension have been found to improve a student's reading comprehension skills (Johnston et al., 2018) but are often implemented too late in the developmental process of learning to read for English learners. Students who struggle with reading should be immersed in early intervention programs that are evidence-based and that explicitly teach essential reading skills in an appropriate scope and sequence (Kamps et al., 2007). Letterland's imaginative narrative is an integrated letter mnemonics system for dual language learners (Fitton et al., 2018; Roberts & Sadler, 2019). Shared reading is another intervention that is considered effective for enhancing language and literacy development for both monolingual and English language learner (ELL) children (Fitton et al., 2018).

Many students in the local school district who are exiting kindergarten cannot identify a majority of their letters with the corresponding letter sound . This serious foundational weakness is evidenced by the end-of-year assessment that district kindergarten teachers give students in order to assess the skills that the students learn throughout the school year (see Table 1).

Table 1

Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA): Percentage of Students at or Below Grade

Level, End-of-Year Kindergarten

Assessment	Above grade level	On grade level	Below grade level	Way below grade level
DRA-2 6/2018	8%	7%	26%	59%
DRA-2	4%	27%	34%	35%
6/2019	470	2170	34%	33%
DRA-2 6/2020	*	*	*	*

Note. It is important to note that 50% of students entering kindergarten are bilingual (Spanish).

The local school district implemented Letterland, a phonics-based, multisensory program for early learners. The local school district has a large percentage of students who are classified as bilingual, ELL, and at risk. According to the district's student software program, Realtime, there are 5,542 students enrolled in the district; of those students, 4,778 students are Hispanic and 1,529 are identified as ELL students, with the exception of a few who have chosen to opt out and not receive services. During the 2016–2017 school year, 1,426 students in the local school district (K–12) were classified as limited English proficient. In addition, 100% of the students in the local school district are considered low-income students and receive free breakfast and lunch.

Past researchers have shown that ELLs often face significant challenges in learning to read, due in part to issues with acculturation, linguistic isolation, and lack of prior literacy experiences in their native language or in English (Rahn et al., 2015).

^{*}Data not available due to health-related school closure (COVID-19).

According to Cummins (2016), language proficiencies, such as accent, oral fluency, and sociolinguistic competence, in a student's first and second languages are interdependent. Cummins stated that for students whose first language is the minority language, the trend is opposite between achievement and instructional time through the majority language. The degree of transfer will depend on the chances that students have to develop both languages within the school setting (Cummins, 2016).

Limited vocabulary has been shown to thwart literacy progression, as too many unknown words interfere with a student's ability to understand written text. When Hart and Risley (1995) documented preschool children's vocabularies, they found that many children enter the same classroom with students who know many more sounds, letters, and vocabulary words. Hart and Risley estimated that the gap in vocabulary knowledge for early childhood students might be up to 3 million words. Due to this common effect, instruction has been targeted at providing ELLs explicit vocabulary instruction in order to support reading instruction, with early reading emphasis on connecting the elements of sound, symbol, and word function (Cassady et al., 2018). Emergent ELL readers need to be exposed to high-quality levels of teacher modeling and phonemic awareness skills, as well as feedback on their individual performance (Cummins, 2016; Ehri, 2005). The degree of transfer will depend on the opportunities that students have to develop both languages within the school and the motivation to do so.

Students who learn to read early, in preschool, receive more exposure to print and gain exceptional automaticity, which is the ability to recognize words instantaneously without decoding (Spencer & Wagner, 2018). Once children master the sounds and

alphabetic principle, they practice reading and build comprehension skills and vocabulary (Chall, 1983; Lesaux, 2012; Spencer & Wagner, 2018.). Children who have limited phonological awareness require explicit and systematic instruction to build up their skills (Nunn, 2019). Researchers have demonstrated inconsistencies in the delivery of phonics and phonemic awareness instruction, with many practices falling short of what students need (Earle & Sayeski, 2017; Piasta & Wagner, 2010). Teaching explicit phonics effectively to early readers requires a level of knowledge and training that many teachers lack, and when asked about their skill level, teachers tend to rate themselves more skilled than they actually are (Ehri & Flugman, 2017). Unfortunately, those students falling behind their grade-level peers also have a tendency to have a negative outlook and never achieve grade-level reading fluency (Ozernov-Palchik et al., 2016).

According to Dussling (2018), interventions for ELLs having reading trouble in the younger grades increase the chance that they will do better academically, decreasing the likelihood of needing special services later. Explicit instruction in the areas of phonemic awareness, vocabulary, fluency, and comprehension is extremely important for ELL students. Reading instruction should not be prolonged in order to wait for the acquisition of English language proficiency (Dussling, 2018).

Children come to school with varying experiences and backgrounds, and their differences should not be ignored. Children are immersed in and surrounded by spoken language, making learning to talk natural, as opposed to learning to read, which does not come naturally (Hanford, 2018). The first 4 years of a child's life can have lasting effects on their future educational experiences (Hart & Risley, 1995). On average, a 4-year-old

child from an upper middle class family whose parents are professionals will accrue experience with almost 45 million words, an average 4-year-old child from a working class family will accrue 26 million words, and an average 4-year-old child from a family receiving welfare will accrue 13 million words (Hart & Risley, 1995). Children attending schools in high-poverty areas are beginning school with limited vocabulary and experiences. Hart and Risley (1995) suggested that curriculum and instruction must address the needs of students in order to prevent them from lagging behind their peers. Vocabulary development is extremely important for children learning to read, as vocabulary knowledge assists young learners with the needed prereading skills, such as letter-sound correspondence and decoding (Moody et.al., 2018). Research has shown that repeated exposure to vocabulary words and explicit instruction has the potential to close vocabulary gaps, especially for English as a second language students (Moody et.al., 2018).

Teaching across all content areas, and within their content, can facilitate and enforce letter-sound instruction, as it can be connected to a multitude of instructional areas. According to Campbell (2018), children need to be able to decode and/or make the relationship between phonemes and graphemes, phonological awareness, and decoding in order to experience reading success. Teachers need to have the skill to support the development of oral language, vocabulary, fluency, grammar, and comprehension. Phonemic awareness enables children to apply the alphabetic decoding strategy to unknown words, which allows students to develop reading fluency and apply spoken language (Carson et al., 2018). If the gap between average readers and at-risk readers is

addressed aggressively through interventions in the early grades, later reading problems may be avoided or greatly reduced (Solari et al., 2017). Due to the large number of students reading below grade level and the lack of phonemic awareness and phonics training, teachers were introduced in 2015 to the Letterland program, a supplemental program utilized to address the phonics and phonemic awareness skills problem. Despite district implementation of the Letterland phonics program, early childhood students continue to struggle with mastery of phonics and phonemic awareness skills, suggesting that improvements may be needed in program implementation. The intention of the district in implementing the Letterland program was to improve early childhood teachers' prereading teaching skills and to increase the number of below-grade-level students attaining grade-level reading skills.

Teaching children to read is extremely difficult, and way too many children have difficulty reading and writing (Moats, 2020). According to Moats (2020), reading achievement is not as good as it should be because teacher preparation programs do not include practices that are recommended by the most credible sources. Therefore, many teachers are not equipped to teach reading. Reading failure can be prevented in most students, except for those with severe learning disabilities. When classroom teaching includes research-based practices that target specific language and cognitive and reading skills, most students should be able to read by the end of first grade (Moats, 2020).

Learning to teach reading requires teachers to have extensive knowledge in the components of word recognition, language comprehension, spelling, and writing (Moats,

2020). Learning to read involves deciphering and understanding the meaning of print (Ren & Ma, 2017).

Researchers suggest that phonics and phonemic awareness are reading skills that ELL students need to be successful readers (Klingbeil et al., 2017). The Institute of Education Sciences made four instructional suggestions for teaching ELL students: teaching academic vocabulary, incorporating English language arts instruction across content areas, providing written language practice on a daily basis, and providing small group instruction to struggling students (Snyder et al., 2017). According to Klingbeil et al. (2017), ELL students benefit from intensive instruction from phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency, comprehension, and vocabulary. Intensive instruction should be explicit and provide repetition of the needed skills. Systematic phonics instruction includes reading programs that teach graphemes and phonemes in an alphabetic writing system in a natural and logical sequence (Castles et al., 2018).

Phonological awareness develops when children become mindful of smaller parts of words, noticing syllables before rhyme. Phonemic awareness develops when a child can pull apart the sounds of words and blend the sounds together to create words. Phonemic awareness is a critical indicator of reading ability (Suortti & Lipponen, 2014). Young children are often able to show the phonemic structure of a word by tapping out the word by hand, manipulating sounds at the syllable and phoneme level (Suortti & Lipponen, 2014). A review of research shows that the best and most consistent improvement in early reading skills for kindergarten and first-grade ELL students is derived from building phonemic awareness and phonics (Richards-Tutor et al., 2015).

In order to be a successful reader, one must have the fundamental skills necessary to decode the relationships between letters and sounds and between sounds and words (Chall, 1983; Ehri, 2005). Letter-sound knowledge is a strong predictor of whether a student has the ability to decode words (Earle & Sayeski, 2017). In order to read words, students must be able to distinguish the smallest sounds in words (Ehri & Flugman, 2018). Letter-sound instruction is a very important segment of beginning literacy instruction, especially in kindergarten and first grade (Earle & Sayeski, 2017). Prior to the Letterland program, teachers at the study site did not have the knowledge base or the confidence to teach students the foundational skills needed to address the gaps in letter-sound correspondence and phonological awareness.

Although much of the research has demonstrated the need for letter-sound knowledge as a foundational skill for beginning reading instruction, recent research shows inconsistencies in the delivery and instructional approaches, with many current practices falling short of meeting the needs of students (Earle & Sayeski, 2017). Many teachers lack the knowledge to teach phonics sufficiently, specifically concerning how to separate phonemes into spoken words (Ehri & Flugman, 2018). Because preservice college programs are limited in what can be covered, teachers do not receive the extensive course work or extensive classroom experience needed to teach beginning readers (Ehri & Flugman, 2018).

The teaching of phonics allows for students to understand the printed form and spoken form of words (Castle et al., 2018). Systematic phonics instruction has been researched extensively over the years. Adopting a systematic phonics program, along

with sight words, is highly recommended (Castle et al., 2018). The explicit teaching of phonics assists all students in accessing text and is vital for many children (Castle et al., 2018). In addition to acquiring the needed strategies and skills, it is also important for students to develop a love for reading. Incorporating student engagement and social interaction with text as students are learning to decode and comprehend will increase their ability to make meaning and to share their thinking, as well as develop long-term motivation and skill (Moses & Kelly, 2018).

According to the simple view of reading, decoding/word recognition plus language comprehension equals reading comprehension (Vollebregt et al., 2021). Explicit teaching of phonics, phonemic awareness, and morphological awareness enables children to develop the necessary skills to decode text (Vollebregt et al., 2021). For students to become expert readers, they must have a solid foundation in phonics and reading skills (Vollebregt et al., 2021). Reading proficiency is a reliable predictor of academic success and high school graduation rates (Whitbread et al., 2021). Researchers advise that teaching foundational reading skills, which include the alphabetic principle, with additional supports as needed, will result in higher academic success (Whitbread et al., 2021). The instructional method suggested is "I do, we do, you do."

In September 2015, the local school district adopted and implemented the Letterland phonics program, which has shown a slight increase in the number of students reading on grade level. Letterland phonics is a 40-minute intervention block that takes place in addition to the literacy block. The objective of the Letterland program is to train teachers and to assist students with learning their letters, letter sounds, letter shapes, and

word build skills (blending and segmenting) in order to meet or exceed grade-level reading skills. Once the much-needed prereading skills are learned, the hope is that reading levels will improve.

 Table 2

 Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA): Percentage of Students at or Below Grade

 Level, Middle-of-Year Kindergarten

Assessment	Above grade level	On grade level	Below grade level
DRA-2 6/2018	12%	50%	38%
DRA-2	16%	56%	29%
6/2019 DRA-2			_,,,
6/2020	0%	15%	85%

Note. It is important to note that 50% of students entering kindergarten are bilingual (Spanish).

The Letterland phonics program is an established, research-based program that explicitly teaches the innate rules of phonics and phonemic awareness in a student-friendly, multisensory manner. The alphabet letter sounds are taught to students via a picture mnemonic. Each letter-sound and phonics rule is taught via a memorable interconnected story. The Letterland phonics program provides teachers and students with a toolkit of strategies to assist with blending and decoding of text. Students are exposed to a variety of vocabulary words using the Letterland phonics program. This vocabulary review is exceptionally beneficial for ELL student populations. Students require large doses of exposure to new words in order to begin to catch up to the average

English native speaker, which is why the district chose the Letterland phonics program over other phonics and phonemic programs.

The goal of implementing the Letterland phonics program at the local site was to improve the number of students reading on grade level and to provide teachers with the training necessary to improve phonics and phonemic awareness instruction. In this project study, I explored the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers as they taught phonics and phonemic awareness with the Letterland program. Guided by constructivist theory, I centered this project study around the experiences and perceptions of teachers when teaching phonics and phonemic awareness and the supports and resources needed to successfully implement the program with students. The information gained will assist teachers and administrators in understanding the support and resources needed to successfully teach phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program.

Rationale

Early childhood teachers in the local school district have been uneasy for some time with their acknowledged shortcomings in teaching phonemic awareness and phonics, as most schools of education programs do not teach this much-needed skill indepth. During a districtwide curriculum meeting including staff members from kindergarten through Grade 2, it was stated that the curriculum did not include a systematic way to teach phonics and phonemic awareness, which the educators felt was their greatest priority in improving teaching and learning in kindergarten through Grade 2, and when recently asked, they felt the same way. In a 2020 curriculum meeting,

teachers acknowledged their lack of training, which is why the local school district implemented the Letterland program 7 years ago. This priority is emphasized in the research literature on early reading.

According to Wood et al. (2013), deficits in phonemic awareness are strongly correlated with reading ability and can affect overall reading achievement. Children who have fallen behind their peers in kindergarten often struggle with text in third grade (Goldstein et al., 2017). Children need to have a high level of prereading skills, along with many opportunities to develop their skills interactively (Neuman & Roskos, 2005). The NRP (2000) examined over 100,000 studies on reading components and interventions and identified five areas of instruction for all children. Within the five areas, phonemic awareness is considered an important foundational skill (Wood et al., 2013). Due to the lack of this necessary reading skill, students exiting kindergarten in the local school district read below the expected reading level prior to the implementation of Letterland. As measured by Pearson's (2011) DRA, 12% of the students read above grade level, 53% read on grade level, 24% read below grade level, and 11% read far below grade level. During the prereading phase, teachers must help their students activate prior knowledge, along with their cognitive schema, so that students can understand the new knowledge that is being taught and apply it successfully in all that they learn (Spanou & Zafiri, 2019).

The intention of the district in implementing the Letterland program was to improve early childhood teachers' prereading teaching skills and to increase the number of below-grade-level students attaining grade-level reading. In 2015, the district

implemented Letterland, a supplemental program utilized to address the phonics and phonemic awareness skills problem. The purpose of this project study was to explore the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers regarding teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program.

Definition of Terms

Alphabetic principle: The alphabetic principle is connecting letters with sounds and the relationship between written letters and/or symbols and spoken words (Baker et al., 2018).

Common Core State Standards (CCSS): The CCSS are standards that detail what students should know in English language arts and mathematics from kindergarten through Grade 12 (CCSS Initiative, n.d.).

Decoding: Decoding is sounding out words and blending sounds together (Kelly, 2014).

English language learner (ELL): Cellante and Donne (2013) defined an ELL as someone whose natural language is not English; who is not proficient or has difficulty speaking, reading, writing, or understanding the English language; and who was not born in the United States.

Grade-level expectations: Grade-level expectations are written descriptions, called *learning standards*, that students should be able to know and do at specific stages during their education (Great Schools Partnership, 2014).

Letterland: Letterland is a phonics and phonemic awareness program published by Letterland International Ltd. and purchased by the local school district. The Letterland phonics program is a research-based program that uses Letterland characters to explain phonics facts and to motivate students. Letterland stories explain letter sounds and shapes, building to reading and writing (Keys to Literacy, n.d.).

Mnemonic: A mnemonic is a strategy used to promote recall of information, such as rhyme and rhythm (Chancellor & Lee, 2016).

Phonemic awareness: Phonemic awareness is the ability to hear sounds in spoken language (Wood et al., 2013).

Phonics: Phonics is correlating sounds with letters or groups of letters in an alphabetic writing system (Snyder & Golightly, 2017).

Running record: A running record is a record of oral reading behaviors (Harmey & Kabuto, 2018).

Sound/letter correspondence: Sound/letter correspondence is the relationship between letters and phonemes (Clemens et al., 2017).

Significance of the Study

This qualitative study will contribute to the local setting by improving the understanding of how teachers in other school districts are using Letterland so that the implementation of the program in the local school district can be improved. Guided by constructivist theory, I explored the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. The more students who exit their K–2 grade-level reading on or above level, the more confident they will be, and the more likely they will be to experience academic success.

The NPR recommends teaching phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency,

vocabulary, and comprehension (Noltemeyer et al., 2013). Measuring the effectiveness of the Letterland phonics program in improving the early reading development of students is particularly important, as phonics instruction is highly effective during kindergarten but is less so for students in higher elementary grades (Noltemeyer et al., 2013). Conversations about the teaching and learning of phonics and phonemic awareness via

the Letterland program must occur to prevent any misinterpretations of the outcomes.

Those who may benefit from this study are present and future kindergarten teachers, future educators, administrators, parents, and the community at large. Implementing the Letterland phonics program, which emphasizes early phonemic awareness and improved reading outcomes for low-income early childhood students, can have powerful effects on the academic and behavioral success of the district's earliest students. Guided by constructivist theory, this project study explored the experiences and perceptions of teachers teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program.

Research Questions

This project study explored the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers who teach phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. The research questions that drove this project were as follows:

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What are early childhood educators' experiences teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program? Research Question 2 (RQ2): What resources and/or supports do early childhood teachers perceive as necessary to implement the Letterland program successfully with students?

Review of the Literature

I drew the review of literature from journals, books, texts, and internet sources; government reports; and published dissertations and included relevant information on (a) the theory of constructivism, (b) evidence-based prereading skills, (c) phonics and phonemic awareness, (d) whether students are engaged, and (e) supports and resources still needed. This section of the literature review includes the conceptual framework for this study.

Conceptual Framework

Constructivism Theory

Constructivist teaching is a theory of learning, not teaching, and is often referred to as social constructivism (Kosnik et al., 2018). Constructivism draws on the learner's prior knowledge and experiences and where social interactions are encouraged during inclass discussions and small groups. The constructivist teacher's responsibility is to help students make sense of their new knowledge in order for students to internalize and effectively interpret educational activities (Shah, 2019).

According to Qiu (2019), constructivist learning theory is teacher guided and student centered. Teachers assist and encourage students to construct meaning by stimulating students' interest in learning and motivating them to connect their old knowledge with new content. Learning should include discussion and social interactions

(Qiu, 2019). In teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, teachers encourage students to remember letters and letter-sounds by connecting what they know with new content.

Those who adopt the constructivist perspective perceive learning as a process that encourages students to think of more than one way to arrive at a correct answer (Kesler et al., 2021). The best way for children to learn to read using the constructivist view is to allow children to discover patterns and links to language after providing the guidance needed to learn how the alphabetic system works (Treiman, 2018). Having children find patterns with rhyming helps create connections.

When people think of constructivism, they often think of the works of Lev Vygotsky, Jean Piaget, and John Dewey. The four types of constructivism are cognitive constructivism, radical constructivism, situated constructivism, and co-constructivism. All four types share common beliefs, such as the belief that learning is active, not passive, and that the learning environment should concentrate on the learner (Mattar, 2017). Constructivism relies on process, not content, which is why it is extremely important for teachers to know all their students (Mattar, 2017).

Constructivist teachers guide their students through a series of inquiry-based activities that allow students to create their own meaning (Shah, 2019). Students are actively engaged learners and are guided by their teacher. The curriculum includes problem-based learning, critical thinking, inquiry-based activities, and discussion with peers and teacher (Shah, 2019). Teachers in the constructivist classroom encourage students to share what they have learned in a variety of ways. Content-rich lessons have a

deep effect on what learners comprehend and understand (Kara, 2019). In a constructivist classroom, the teacher teaches the content and focuses on a learning environment that is student based and accommodating for all learners (Kara, 2019).

The teaching of Letterland is in line with the theory of constructivism, as the Letterland curriculum assists teachers in actively engaging all learners. It is student based and includes inquiry-based activities. The teacher explicitly and systematically teaches letters and letter sounds. Instructional components include active stories, embedded characters that tie together letters and sounds, and activities that involve individual learners. The Letterland program incorporates the *I do, we do, you do* learning approach, allowing students much-needed time to practice the skills needed to read on their own. Students are encouraged each day to participate in hands-on activities and open dialogue between students and students and students and teacher. The teacher addresses the individual needs of all students during small group instruction. Those students needing intensive interventions receive additional support through a reading intervention teacher. Like constructivism, the Letterland program is taught by teaching letters and sounds explicitly and systematically.

Review of the Broader Problem

I reviewed a variety of literature to understand the skills and strategies needed to properly teach reading to early childhood students. The review began with the conceptual framework and the synthesis of literature on prereading skills and strategies needed to learn how to read, as well as reading interventions for those who find reading difficult. I

drew materials for the review of literature from journals, books, texts, and internet sources; government reports; and published dissertations.

The databases utilized to retrieve resources for this literature review were ERIC, EbscoHost, and Science Direct. The search terms included were *early reading skills*, *phonics and phonemic awareness*, *reading interventions*, *early reading interventions*, *constructivism*, *reading interventions for students at risk*, *reading interventions for bilingual students*, and *reading interventions for ESL students*.

During the search process, several themes and topics resurfaced time and time again. The alphabetic principle, phonics and phonemic awareness instruction, explicit instruction, students at risk for reading interventions, best practices for early reading intervention, and early intervention programs were among the prevalent themes and topics. This project study was guided by the reoccurring themes and topics.

Phonics and Phonemic Awareness

The educational system needs significant improvement in the teaching of reading and the important foundational/prereading skills that students must learn and know to become proficient readers. The prominence of phonemic awareness and phonics instruction has been strengthened by many events in the last 3 decades. The publication of a *Nation at Risk* in the 1980s highlighted the problems of literacy instruction and outcomes. By 2000, when the No Child Left Behind Act was passed in Congress, the bill was accompanied by a phonics-based reading program recommended by the U.S. Department of Education, *Reading First*. In 2010, the National Governors Association released the CCSS, which was the first state-led effort to establish clear standards for

English language arts. For those students who are struggling readers, the most effective method of identifying unknown words is the teaching of phonics (Torgerson et al., 2019).

According to Ehri (2005), the alphabetic system provides a mnemonic system that helps students acquire new vocabulary words in both memory and pronunciation. Ehri's theory of learning to read using the alphabetic principle is like the Letterland phonics and phonemic awareness program, which is an established, research-based program that explicitly teaches the innate rules of phonics and phonemic awareness. Each of the alphabet letter sounds is taught to students via a picture mnemonic. Each of the letter sounds is cemented into the student's long-term memory using action tricks. The action tricks are kinesthetic motions, which help students recall the letter's sound. Each letter-sound and phonics rule is taught via a memorable interconnected story. Letterland provides teachers and students with a toolkit of strategies to assist with blending and decoding of text.

The Letterland phonics programs starts with a fast-track phonemic awareness section that introduces children to all of the A-to-Z letters and sounds within the first few weeks of school. The second section of the program introduces each letter and its Letterland character in detail, including upper- and lowercase, as well as letter formation. After the first seven letters, children learn to blend these letter sounds into words and learn to segment and spell words. They also learn useful digraphs, such as th, sh, and ng.

The third section of Letterland teaches students onsets and rhymes. If a student can read "cat," they can read "hat" and "sat." Children are given many opportunities to practice reading words both in and out of context to help develop automatic decoding and

fluent reading. Children enjoy the activities and characters of Letterland. When teaching, constructivist teachers must know what each student understood and what they did not understand, so they can help the learner become engaged in the learning process (Shah, 2019).

In the fourth section of Letterland, children work on consonant blends. They learn the most common consonant blends and use them in reading words. Teachers work with students during whole group instruction, as well as small group and independent activities. Activities include stories and interactive games and songs. In Section 5 through Section 7, the most useful vowel sound combinations are taught. Phonic fables, drama, song, art, and more advanced word building are utilized to apply vowel patterns. Students enjoy acting out stories and reading for meaning.

When educators create a teaching/learning environment based on constructivism, the curriculum is based on what students know and what they do not know. Teachers set a learning goal and guide students to understanding new concepts using their background knowledge as the foundation of learning. Individuals contribute their own experiences and background knowledge to make sense of new content (Kesler et al., 2021).

The goal of the teacher is to have students dig deeper into the curriculum work to have a better understanding of the content. When teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, teachers encourage their students to relate what they do know with new letters and sounds. The goal is not to give students too much information.

As Jean Piaget discovered, the minds of children are different, and they learn and grow through a series of stages (Polona & Hus, 2019). Students are exposed to a variety of vocabulary words using Letterland. They are introduced to words as part of the Letterland story logic, and they utilize the vocabulary in the stories, which are retold during review daily. This is extremely beneficial for kindergarten ELL and at-risk students, as such students require massive doses of exposure to new words to begin to catch up to the average English native speaker.

Technology is utilized in the Letterland program in a variety of ways, assisting with the introduction of new content, large group practice, small group practice, and individual practice. Letterland builds phonological awareness and phonemic awareness activities into the program's instructional units daily. The Letterland program engages students in their learning.

The Letterland program has eight main strategies or tricks that help children become better readers and writers. It has 20 strategies for teachers to utilize throughout the program. The program is developed around pictograms, which contain visual images and information about letters and letter sounds, which engage children with all learning styles. Teachers who engage students in a constructivist pedagogical approach have classrooms that are student centered and discussion based (Kesler et al., 2021).

Offering teachers professional development using the Letterland phonics program will contribute to Ehri's (2005) theory of learning to read using the alphabetic principle.

The Letterland phonics program, like Ehri's theory of learning the alphabet and building

word knowledge, is based on teachers laying a foundation for letter-sound correspondence, decoding, and vocabulary development.

Early implementation of phonological awareness research was conducted in the past 5 years that confirms that phonological awareness and letter recognition are strong predictors of school readiness, as well as predictors for future reading success (Camahalan & Wyraz, 2015). Research studies are grounded in areas of reading instruction that support the need for strong phonics/phonemic awareness, vocabulary, fluency, and comprehension skills. According to Callaghan and Madelaine (2012), blending, segmenting, and letter knowledge are more readily transferred to reading skills than is blending on its own. Systematic phonics explicitly teaches grapheme-phoneme correspondence in a well-organized manner prior to teaching word meaning (Bowers & Bowers, 2018). Although phonological processing is very important to readers, it especially benefits beginning readers (Double et al., 2019).

Research studies conducted in the past 5 years confirm that phonological awareness and phonics are critical reading skills that are effective when utilized in kindergarten, as well as in first and second grade reading interventions (Cohen & Brady, 2011; Lemons et al., 2012; Simmons et al., 2011; Wood et al., 2013). Interventions that begin earlier are more effective than interventions that begin later. Providing interventions in kindergarten jump starts phonologic and alphabetic proficiency. When decoding is not completely automatized, it has a strong impact on reading comprehension (Florit & Cain, 2011). Early predictors of decoding and reading fluency in children include letter knowledge and phonological awareness (Torppa et al., 2020).

The Letterland phonics program is being implemented in Grades K–2 in the local school district. This qualitative study is being conducted to determine the impact of the intervention on kindergarten students at the only two early childhood schools utilizing the program. It is the goal of the district to influence as many students as possible to effect positive social change.

The NRP classifies phonemic awareness as one of the five domains critical to reading, along with the alphabetic principle, fluency, vocabulary, and comprehension (Vesay & Gischlar, 2013). Indeed, when children fail to learn phonemic awareness and literacy skills in early childhood, the long-term outcomes for academic success can be damaging (Schryer et al., 2015). Early childhood educators need to have an understanding and an ability to teach children the individual sounds the alphabet represents (Vesay & Gischlar, 2013). If students have inadequate first-grade reading skills, they show an 88% likelihood of both not achieving at grade level and experiencing other curricular challenges, even after 3 additional years of instruction (Schryer et al., 2015).

Interventions for Students at Risk

Schools with high numbers of at-risk students, who are considered to have a higher probability of failing academically, benefit from early interventions that increase phonemic awareness skills, as the goal is to have students experience academic success as early as possible. According to Taub and Szente (2012), phonemic awareness skills should be used as an intervention to support students having difficulties with reading. Rahn et al. (2015) noted that recent research shows that the earlier the intervention

occurs, the more beneficial the intervention is to the at-risk student. The study school district, a district with large numbers of high-risk students, considered this research and implemented the Letterland program in all kindergarten classrooms.

Diamond and Baroody (2013) conducted research on a sample of 502 preschool and kindergarten children at risk of school failure, who wrote their names on a daily basis. The researchers looked at the students' ability to associate letter-sound recognition and to identify words from writing their names, versus students who did not write their names on a daily basis. Diamond and Baroody concluded that students who wrote their names in prekindergarten knew more letters and sounds than those who did not write their names.

Students who are at risk for reading difficulties in the early grades should be provided with explicit instruction in decoding and word recognition. If they are not given this instruction, they will fall into the category of students who have decoding deficits and will struggle with comprehension problems (Spencer & Wagner, 2018). Explicit instruction often emphasizes sound-spelling correspondences and word identification. Explicit, systematic phonics instruction, when taught in addition to other methods, may be effective for certain student populations, such as ELL students who struggle with reading (Robinson, 2018).

Early Reading Intervention Practices

During the first year of literacy instruction, most children will come across spelling-sound correspondences that are foreseeable, based on a simple set of rules relating to graphemes and phonemes (Rastle & Taylor, 2018). Most early childhood

programs incorporate explicit instruction and include decodable text (sound-spelling), which are patterns of words that have been taught (Denton et al., 2014). This building of phonemes and graphemes creates a strong foundation for early reading skills. Letter naming and phonemic awareness is vital to students learning letter-sound correspondence (Paige et al., 2018). The skill of letter-sound correspondences must be taught explicitly to kindergarten students, especially for those students who are considered at risk for reading acquisition (Paige et al., 2018). According to Ehri and Flugman (2018), in order for teachers to engage in high-quality phonics instruction, they need appropriate professional development and a strong curriculum.

Other promising reading practices include combining phonological awareness with English language development activities. These practices, combined with helping students develop a strong foundation in reading in both their native language and in English, goes a long way. Strong vocabulary instruction based on rigorous research and best practices guides teaching for ELL students (Richards-Tutor et al., 2015). A phonemic awareness program that is explicit and intentional helps children who entered school behind their peers (Groth, 2020). Phonemic skills are very important to learn in kindergarten, focusing on consonant-vowel-consonant (CVC) words (Gillon, 2018). Phoneme identity skills are extremely important to learn in kindergarten, focusing on CVC word, the initial and final phonemes, prior to working on the middle vowel sound (Gillon, 2018). Students will vary in their individual progress; therefore, small group instruction and differentiated instruction is effective (Gillon, 2018).

Guided reading is often implemented as a reading intervention in the classroom (Denton et al., 2014). The objective of guided reading is to have students read silently, on their independent level, while increasing the complexity of the text. Guided reading consists of small group lessons based on reading for meaning. Teachers of guided reading prompt their students to use reading strategies, meaning cues from background information, visual information obtained from print, sound-spelling associations, and word study instruction (Denton et al., 2014).

Reading Recovery is an intervention program in which students work one-on-one with a trained teacher for 30-minute sessions (Rinehart & Short, 2010). Students who participate are chosen if they are in the lowest 20% of their class in reading or if they are recommended by their kindergarten teacher, based on results of a diagnostic survey and/or the results of standardized tests. The instructional framework for Reading Recovery is based on what a child already knows. A typical lesson consists of the student reading a familiar text while the teacher maintains a running record, which the teacher then analyzes. The child may write a story or respond to the text. Based on what the student knows, the teacher will design a program to teach the child to become an independent reader. The goal is for the child to self-monitor and self-correct their own reading (Rinehart & Short, 2010).

Reading First is authorized under Title I as a program to improve reading skills of students in kindergarten through Grade 3 (Sopko, 2010). The program relies on scientifically-based reading research and must include the following components: phonemic awareness, phonics, vocabulary development, reading fluency, and reading

comprehension (Sopko, 2010). The program requires the use of screening and progress monitoring, as well as classroom assessments. Reading First programs require the implementation of at least a 90-minute, uninterrupted block of time each day. The instructional framework must include explicit instruction, ample practice, and supplemental intervention instruction for those students performing below grade level. The program requires professional development to ensure that teachers are qualified to screen, identify, and help students overcome reading difficulties (Sopko, 2010).

For at-risk students to read fluently, they must be able to combine various skills and concepts, such as phonemic awareness, alphabet sounds, vocabulary words, background knowledge, and grammatical features of different genres (Campbell et al., 2014). Young children learn to appreciate concepts of print through reading and developmental play songs and rhymes, all of which are extremely meaningful. Educators must ensure that at-risk children are exposed to childhood settings that are language-rich, surrounded by picture books, and include imaginative play based on the interests of children in order to see positive outcomes for children (Campbell et al., 2014).

Implications

This project study recognizes the need for the Letterland program to be successful in the local school district. The intent of the Letterland program is to increase the number of early childhood students in grades K-2 to exit their grade reading at or above level and decrease the number of students needing reading interventions throughout their school years. When teachers are confident and knowledgeable in the content they teach, students experience greater academic success.

The purpose of this project study was to explore the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers who teach phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. This project study could assist administrators in the local school district with making improvements to the Letterland program by ensuring that early childhood educators are adequately prepared to teach beginning and struggling readers. Recommendations will be made about the resources, materials, and professional development needed to address any shortfalls. The results of this study may benefit many students now and for years to come.

Summary

Based on the varied backgrounds and unique experiences, students' educational needs can and will be vastly different as they enter a formal school system for the first time, and those differences must be addressed in the classroom. Researchers clearly state that there are precursor skills and strategies students need that better enable them to learn to read, and without these skills, students may be at risk for academic failure. Students who are in need of intensive alphabetic instruction, combined with a print-rich literacy block to obtain precursor skills and strategies, should have research-based options available to them to stay on track and not fall behind their grade-level peers.

The district implemented Letterland, a phonics and phonemic awareness program, in September 2015; however, despite district implementation of the Letterland phonics program, early childhood students continue to struggle with mastery of phonics and phonemic awareness skills, suggesting that improvements may be needed in program implementation. Additional training, resources, and supports may be needed.

Section 2: The Methodology

The purpose of this project study was to explore the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers regarding teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. I collected and analyzed data from in-depth, semistructured interviews. I developed a coding system and identified reoccurring themes. The information discovered could provide professional development insight.

Qualitative Research Design and Approach

I used a traditional qualitative approach due to the small number of potential participants for this study (Creswell, 2012). The research questions concentrated on information gathering, making the qualitative approach most appropriate. This study did not involve numbers, prediction, or the use of an experimental process; therefore, the quantitative or mixed method approaches were not appropriate.

I collected in-depth, semistructured interview data from nine participants in order to provide detailed information about the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers regarding teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. Qualitative researchers study a variety of conditions to make sense or interpret experiences and the meaning that people bring to them (Aspers & Corte, 2019). Utilizing a quantitative or mixed-methods approach would not have yielded the results sought, as the data gained in qualitative research explore experiences and are not part of statistical analysis; therefore, the results cannot be tested to see if they are statistically significant.

The focus of the project study was early childhood educators who are currently teaching phonics and phonemic awareness utilizing the Letterland program. The study

included teacher interviews on guidance, learning, student engagement, and implementation of the Letterland program. The research questions that drove this project were as follows:

- RQ1: What are early childhood educators' experiences teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program?
- RQ2: What resources and/or supports do early childhood teachers perceive as necessary to implement the Letterland program successfully with students?

The nature of the in-depth interview questions aligned well with this qualitative study.

Participants

Criteria for Selecting Participants

I chose volunteer participants from across the United States for this study due to the power dynamic with my position and the necessity of collecting data from teachers who were not in the local school district, as I am the superintendent of schools in the local school district. I chose teacher volunteers because they had experience in teaching the Letterland program. Teachers selected for this voluntary study needed to have met the criteria of having experience teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program and agreed to be interviewed. Interviews took place via phone and were audio-recorded.

Because I am the superintendent of schools of the local school district, I interviewed nine teachers outside of the district. Recruitment of participants took several forms, such as use of the Letterland Facebook group, Walden's participant pool, school

districts that teach Letterland, and referrals from participants. All participants interviewed taught Letterland in the United States.

Justification for Number of Participants

I collected rich qualitative data from nine early childhood elementary teachers who taught phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. I developed in-depth, semistructured questions as an interview guide. It was important to hear from the participants what they thought was important in their own words. Having fewer participants allowed for more in-depth interviews. Interviews are important, as they allow participants to share their views and perceptions in the teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness (Creswell, 2012).

I sent 1,408 invitations to participate in this project study to teachers who, according to public websites, taught phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. Nine teachers agreed to participate in the interview process. In qualitative research, the number of participants in the study depends on the depth of inquiry conducted (Creswell, 2012). Having too few participants provides insufficient data to address the problem. In this case, the qualitative component involved open-ended interviews and resulted in rich in-depth responses.

Procedure for Gaining Access to Participants

I began data collection for this study after approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University (approval # 03-29-22-0459089). Once consent was granted, the data collection process began.

I contacted a Letterland representative to find out what districts/schools were teaching phonics and phonemic awareness utilizing the Letterland program. Once I had a list of schools and districts, I conducted a search of public websites in order to obtain staff member email addresses. I emailed invitations to participate to potential participants. I sent reminder emails to encourage participation. Nine volunteers who taught Letterland in Grades K–2 in the United States participated in the interview process.

Establishing Researcher-Participant Relationship

I am the superintendent of the local school district. Due to the potential conflict, I interviewed teachers from other school districts, not the school district in which I work. Recruitment of participants took several forms, such as use of the Letterland Facebook group, Walden's participant pool, school districts that teach Letterland, and referrals from participants. When recruiting participants, I contacted only those who agreed to be interviewed via phone.

I informed participants, via email, of the purpose of the study and participant confidentiality before obtaining consent. Since I received limited responses, I emailed all participants a second time, explaining the benefits of the study and expressing the anonymity of teacher data. A third email invitation was sent to potential participants.

Protection of Participant Rights

I took proper measures to ensure that all participants were protected. All participants remain deidentified. I treated the confidentiality of all participants with the highest level of importance. I received permission to conduct the study from the Walden

IRB. Teachers who taught Letterland received an invitation to participate in the study. The letter of consent explained how the results of the study would be used to facilitate improvements. Teachers were not compensated for taking part in the interview or for teaching the Letterland program. Teachers who volunteered to participate in the study responded, "I consent."

I stored all data and participant information on my personal, password-protected computer for confidentiality purposes. I will securely store all collected data for a minimum of 5 years, with confidentiality always protected. After 5 years, I will destroy the data.

Data Collection

Justification for Data Collection

The goal of this qualitative project study was to explore the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers who taught phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. Utilizing semistructured, open-ended questions, I interviewed nine early childhood teachers who taught the Letterland program to obtain in-depth data. The interview questions were centered on teacher experiences in using the Letterland program and the supports and resources necessary to implement the phonics and phonemic program successfully with students.

Data Collection Instruments

Peer Member Checking

To ensure credibility, validity, and trustworthiness, I called upon a trusted colleague, who had no involvement in the project study, to assist in the research process.

The trusted colleague I chose was not a research participant and did not have any special interests in the outcome. To ensure no potential conflict, the colleague did not work in the local school district. The person chosen was asked to volunteer their time to this project study. I shared and reviewed the findings and the final report of the project study to probe the researcher's thinking.

Open-Ended, Semistructured Questions

Teacher participants were given the opportunity to answer open-ended, semistructured interview questions. The open-ended questions addressed the research questions in this project study. Participants answered open-ended questions that addressed teacher experiences and additional supports and resources needed to successfully implement the Letterland program. The open-ended, semistructured questions were used to drive the in-depth interviews. The interviews were audiotaped. I took anecdotal notes. I will destroy all electronic documents 5 years after this project study concludes.

Establishing Sufficiency of Data Collection

The research questions in this project study addressed the teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness via the Letterland program from the teachers' perspective. Early childhood teachers had the opportunity to answer open-ended, semistructured questions about their experiences teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, as well as supports, resources, materials, and professional development needed to implement the phonics and phonemic program more effectively. I created the open-

ended interview questions appropriate for this qualitative project study based on the needs of the local school district.

Process for Collecting and Recording Data

I invited early childhood teachers who taught phonics and phonemic awareness utilizing the Letterland program in the United States to participate in this project study. Early childhood teachers in the local school district did not participate due to a potential conflict of interest, as I am the superintendent of schools. Early childhood teachers received an invitation to join the study with a letter of consent. I sent a reminder email to all participants twice after the initial invite. I saved all responses electronically on a personal computer. Once consent was received, I scheduled dates and times to interview the voluntary participants.

Systems for Keeping Track of Data

Using open-ended, semistructured questions as a guide, I interviewed each voluntary participant via phone. I audio-recorded each interview and took detailed notes. I will maintain all notes in a research journal that has been locked in my home office. I analyzed data using the NVivo computer software program. The NVivo program assisted me in keeping my data organized. I analyzed data to find meaningful trends and patterns in the responses from participants that link to the research questions. Once patterns and trends were identified, I created themes that demonstrate comparability and variations across codes in order to establish the meaning of the patterns and trends.

Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants

Because I am the superintendent of schools in the local school district, I interviewed nine teachers outside the district. Recruitment of participants took several forms, such as use of the Letterland Facebook group, Walden's participant pool, school districts that teach Letterland, and referrals from participants. All participants interviewed taught Letterland in the United States.

To gain access to the participants for this study, I obtained approval for the project study from Walden's IRB. I then sent invitations to participate in the study, along with a letter of consent, to those who volunteered to be interviewed via phone. Once I received the participants' responses and received consent, I scheduled dates and times for the interviews.

Role of the Researcher

At the time of this project study, my role in the local school district was superintendent of schools. Due to the potential for conflict, I interviewed nine teachers who taught phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program in the United States. I held individual phone interviews that were audio-recorded. At the conclusion of this project study, I will share my findings with school administrators as a means of improving the teaching and learning of phonics and phonemic awareness in the local school district.

Data Analysis

How and When Data Were Analyzed

Upon interview completion, I analyzed the data collected from all interviews to address the research questions used in this project study to understand early childhood educators' experiences teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, as well as the resources and supports necessary in implementing the Letterland program successfully with students. I analyzed the data using the NVivo computer software program. I manually created a chart by research question, codes, descriptions, and quotes, which I utilized to create themes.

I used codes from the recurring participant responses in order to identify patterns and trends linked to the research questions. I then categorized the codes and created themes. I used an open coding process. The codes reflected the data to ensure that my own ideas and background knowledge were not integrated. I combined comparable words and phrases to reduce the chance of duplication. The purpose of coding is to start with the data and identify patterns that emerge from the data (Bouncken et al., 2021). I created seven themes from the coded data to better understand childhood educators' experiences teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, as well as the supports and resources necessary to continue to teach phonics and phonemic awareness successfully with students.

Evidence of Quality (Trustworthiness)

I took measures to ensure quality throughout the analysis phase of this qualitative study. I grouped, organized, and ordered by their commonalities and their differences all

qualitative data. Walden University committee members reviewed this study and suggested revisions and modifications, as well as questioned the findings stated.

To ensure credibility, validity, and trustworthiness, I conducted member checking to find out from the participants if the information provided was accurate. Credibility is established when the results reflect the views of the participants. To enhance validity, I conducted peer debriefing with a trusted colleague, who had no involvement in the project study. The trusted colleague chosen was not a research participant and did not have any special interests in the outcome. I shared the findings and the final report of the project study.

Procedures for Discrepant Cases

I compared potentially discrepant data or perspectives to the emerging perspectives and themes. I further analyzed the discrepant data to understand what the responses meant or suggested. I addressed discrepant data in this project study.

Data Analysis Results

The purpose of the project study was to explore the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers who teach phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. This project study offers guidance to future teachers and administrators on what is needed to adequately prepare early childhood teachers to teach phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. I gathered and analyzed data from individual semistructured interviews. Participants included nine early childhood teachers who were currently teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program and who were currently teaching in the United States. All

participants volunteered to participate in the study. To ensure confidentiality, I deidentified participants' names and details. The research questions guiding this project study were the following:

- RQ1: What are early childhood educators' experiences teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program?
- RQ2: What resources and/or supports do early childhood teachers perceive as necessary to implement the Letterland program successfully with students?

During the interview process, the early childhood teachers I interviewed expressed a deep interest in teaching their K-2 students foundational skills, such as phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. I analyzed the data utilizing coding and themes that emerged in relation to the study research questions.

Process by Which Data Were Generated, Gathered, and Recorded

I began the process for data collection for this project study once I received approval from the IRB at Walden University. I began to collect email addresses of K-2 teachers across the United States who may be using the Letterland program, as per their public district websites. After receiving several responses via email that the district they teach in no longer uses the Letterland program, I contacted a Letterland representative to inquire as to the name of schools and/or districts that are currently using the Letterland program. I then researched the names of the districts, which were open public websites, for the email addresses of K-2 teachers. I emailed approximately 1,408 invitations over a 6-week period to potential participants. I received 12 responses. I sent those participants

who expressed an interest in participating in the study a letter of consent, which clearly stated that participation was voluntary and confidential. Of the 12 responses I received, nine resulted in an interview. I scheduled and held individual interviews via phone, each one lasting between 30 and 45 minutes. I audio-recorded the interviews and saved them on an electronic device. I utilized the NVivo software program to code and analyze data. I analyzed the data as to codes and themes that emerged, which were also considered in relation to alignment with the study research questions.

Teacher Participants

All nine participants in this project study were currently teaching the Letterland program in the United States. One participant taught in Massachusetts, one participant taught in Texas, and seven participants taught in two different counties in North Carolina. Teacher participants ranged in overall teaching experience, from 1.5 years to 32 years. Two teachers had between 1 year and 5 years of teaching experience. Four teachers had between 14 years and 18 years of teaching experience, and three teachers had between 29 years and 32 years of teaching experience. The average teaching experience was 18 years. As far as experience in teaching phonics and phonemic awareness utilizing the Letterland program, the range was from 1.5 years to 10 years. Six teachers had between 1.5 years and 5 years of experience, and three teachers had between 6 years and 10 years of experience teaching the Letterland program. The average years of experience for teaching the Letterland program was 5 years.

Problem and Research Questions

Despite district implementation of the Letterland phonics program, early

childhood students continue to struggle with mastery of phonics and phonemic awareness skills, suggesting that improvements may be needed in program implementation.

In this project study, I explored the experiences and perceptions of early childhood teachers who teach phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program.

The research questions that guided this project study were:

- RQ1: What are early childhood educators' experiences teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program?
- RQ2: What resources and/or supports do early childhood teachers perceive as necessary to implement the Letterland program successfully with students?

Findings in Relation to the Problem and Research Questions

I focused this project study on the experiences and teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, as well as the resources and supports needed to use the Letterland program successfully with students. One of the primary outcomes was that eight of the nine teachers interviewed liked the Letterland program, while six participants reported that most typical students learn their letters and corresponding sounds using Letterland. Seven participants liked the sequence and structure of the systematic program. Five participants reported that the program engaged students. All nine participants found the Letterland program to contain a lot of materials. Three participants felt that the Letterland program is a great program for new teachers with little experience/knowledge of teaching phonics and phonemic awareness. Five of the nine teacher participants indicated that they were prepared to teach phonics and

phonemic awareness prior to implementing the Letterland program. Four of the teacher participants indicated they had minimal knowledge of teaching phonics and phonemic awareness prior to teaching Letterland and were teaching the best they could with the knowledge and resources they had. Teachers specified the need to organize all of their materials by unit, as there are a lot of forms, books, and other materials. Various teachers stated the need to participate in learning opportunities with their grade-level peers, as to sharing ideas and teaching strategies. Teachers indicated the need for professional development on phonics and phonemic awareness beyond Letterland for increased knowledge and understanding. Teachers noted that professional development should not be lecture style, where they are being spoken at.

Patterns, Relationships, Themes Aligned With Research Questions

Due to the nature of the research questions, it was important to compare the data to overall teaching experience and experience in teaching the Letterland program.

Overall, eight of the nine project study participants had good experiences teaching the phonics and phonemic awareness program using Letterland. However, participants made suggestions on improvements that can be made to the program, many of which were similar across the board. The participants provided insights as to their experiences, supplies/resources needed, and professional development/resources that would bring their teaching to the next level (RQ1 and RQ2).

The codes and themes that emerged were linked to the research questions. The participants shared the types of professional learning that would benefit and enhance their teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness via the Letterland program, as well as

supplies needed. Although those who were interviewed were not from the project study site, the information gained will help the administrators and teachers of the project study site improve and enhance teaching and learning of phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program by strengthening the professional development opportunities offered to teachers and administrators.

Coding and Theme Development

Once all nine interviews were conducted, I collected and analyzed the data from the interviews. The data analysis process included coding. I then grouped the common codes by themes aligned to RQ1 and RQ2 (see Table 3).

Table 3Coding Results

Research question	Thematic coding
RQ1: What are early childhood educators'	Early childhood educators experience
experiences teaching phonics and	obstacles and barriers.
phonemic awareness using the Letterland program?	Effects of teaching Letterland on teaching practice.
	Letterland's professional development experiences.
	Teaching experience prior to Letterland.
RQ2: What resources and/or supports to early childhood educators perceive as necessary to implement the Letterland	Professional training opportunities necessary to teach Letterland successfully.
program successfully with students?	Tool necessary to teach Letterland.

Research Question 1, Theme 1: Early Childhood Educators' Experiences

RQ1 focused on early childhood educators' experiences teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. Data responses from the

semistructured, individual interviews related to RQ1 indicated that seven out of nine participants were happy with the sequencing and structure of the Letterland program. Five out of nine participants described the Letterland program as fun and engaging for students. Participant 1 stated, "The Letterland characters and stories really engage students." While Participant 7 said, "The Letterland program is very visual and students really like it and learn from it." Nine participants stated that the Letterland program has a lot of materials. Participant 2 shared, "There are many components of the Letterland program. You need a good organizational system so that you teach in a thoughtful and purposeful way." Seven out of nine participants shared that the Letterland program has a great structure and sequence. Three out of nine participants stated that Letterland is great for new teachers. Participant 5 stated, "Letterland is great for teaching skills, sequencing and patterns." Participant 7 shared, "Letterland is a great program for new teachers and teachers who do not have experience teaching phonics and phonemic awareness." Eight participants stated that they liked the Letterland program. Participant 2 noted, "The more you teach Letterland, the more you learn, and the more your students benefit."

Table 4Early Childhood Educators' Experiences

Response	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	P8	P9
Teacher likes the program	X	X	X		X	X	X	X	X
Very visual	X				X		X		
Students like the program	X	X			X	X	X	X	
Engaging for all students	X				X			X	
Hands-on, multi-sensory		X			X			X	
Great scope, sequence, and	X	X	X		X	X	X	X	
progression/systematic	Λ	Λ	Λ		Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	
Great transfer of skills to reading			X	X					
Most typical students learned	X	X		X	X		X	X	
their letters and sounds	Λ	Λ		Λ	Λ		Λ	Λ	
Phonics and phonemic awareness	X								
skills did not transfer to reading	Λ								
Too much emphasis on	X								
characters, not letters and sounds									
Many materials included	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Great for new teachers			X		X		X		
Difficult when you get new									
students who have not had				X					
Letterland									
Students with oral language									
deficiencies know the characters,				X					
but not letters and sounds									
Not my favorite program				X					
Not a fan of systematic phonics									X
Love the resources and materials	X	X	X		X	X	X	X	X
Great for general education and					X	X	X		
special education students					71	71	71		
Concerned about character									
education based on names and									X
actions of Letterland characters									
(Kicking K)									

Research Question 1, Theme 2: Obstacles and Barriers

Although eight of the nine participants enjoyed teaching phonic and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, they did report a few concerns and suggestions they believe would improve the program and the student learning outcomes. Participant 1 and Participant 3 reported that students with limited oral language skills sometimes focus on the Letterland characters, as opposed to the letters and coordinating sounds. It was suggested that less emphasis be put on the Letterland characters and more emphasis on letters and sounds. Participant 1 reported, "Students with limited background knowledge and oral language skills associate more with the characters, and not the letters and letter sounds." Participant 3 stated "Students sometimes rely on the characters as opposed to the letters and sounds." It is important to note, that teachers reported making the change in the program themselves to overcome the reported concern.

Three participants reported that the Letterland program does not include enough decodable texts. Six participants stated that there are tons of Letterland materials that are not bundled by unit, which they hoped could be done in the future. One participant reported that you really have to dig into the program and prepare each day, or it will be very easy to fall behind. Participant 9 expressed concern about having to repeat units until 80% of the class passed their weekly spelling assessment. Participant 9 felt that you should be able to move on and address deficiencies during small group instruction.

Participant 9 was concerned about character education with the Letterland program, as the characters and stories refer to names, such as Kicking King (K), Quarrelsome Queen (Q), and robots who kidnap people.

Table 5 *Obstacles and Barriers*

Response	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	P8	P9
Not enough codable books	X			X					X
Too much emphasis on	X		X						
characters	Λ		Λ						
A lot of materials to learn	X		X	X	X		X	X	
A lot of lessons to cover	X	X			X				
Most emphasize letters and						X			
sounds, not characters						Λ			
Difficult to fit in games		X							
Must be very organized				X					
A lot of rules, no explanations			X	X					
Contains low interest books				X					X
Do not like handwriting							X		
component							Λ		
CDs do not sound American									X
Characters are not nice – Kicking									
K, Quarrelsome Queen, Robots									X
that kick people									
Student must obtain an 80% on									
weekly tests in order to move to									X
the next unit									

Research Question 1, Theme 3: Effects of Teaching Letterland on Teaching Practices

Five out of nine participants felt that teaching the Letterland program made them more confident in teaching phonics and phonemic awareness, as it is well structured. Two participants felt they learned how to analyze data and provide small group interventions through the Letterland program. Participant 4 stated that teaching the Letterland *program* did not have any effect on her teaching practices. Participant 5 stated that she is so grateful for the Letterland program and has learned so much about data and assessment.

Table 6Effects of Teaching Letterland on Teaching Practices

Response	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	P8	P9
Letterland teaches you the rules									
of phonics and phonemic		X							
awareness									
Confident in teaching phonics									
and phonemic awareness because		X	X		X	X	X		
the program is well structured									
Learned how to analyze data and							•		•
provide small group							X		X
interventions									
Took my teaching to the next								X	
level									
Increased knowledge in regard to		X							\mathbf{X}
phonics and phonemic awareness Improved my small group									
instruction									
No change in practice – trained									
on Reading Recovery, Wilson,	X								
etc.	11								
No effect				X					

Research Question 1, Theme 4: Letterland's Professional Development Experiences

All participants reported that they had received the initial Letterland training. Four of the nine participants felt that the initial training was extremely helpful and necessary to the implementation of the program. Eight of the participants stated that the Letterland presenters are knowledgeable. Three of the nine participants stated that the refresher training was good; however, it is important to note that not all schools/districts offer the Letterland refresher course. Participant 4 and Participant 7 believed that the Letterland trainings improved their practice.

 Table 7

 Letterland's Professional Development Experiences

Response	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	P8	P9
Better at teaching Letterland, not									
necessarily phonics and	X								
phonemic awareness									
Made corrections with other	X								
teachers	Λ								
Must follow the program in its									
entirety in order to implement	X								
fidelity									
Initial training was good		X			X	X	X		
New teachers receive a week of		X							
training		71							
Refresher training was good					X	X	X		
Training did not help									X
Training improved practice				X			X		
Even with all of the training, it is									
difficult to implement in the			X						
beginning, as there are so many			11						
materials									

Research Question 1, Theme 5: Teaching Experiences Prior to Letterland

Four of the nine participants felt they were prepared to teach phonics and phonemic awareness prior to teaching the Letterland program. One participant stated, "I had the knowledge and skills to teach phonics and phonemic awareness prior to Letterland; however, I did not know the sequence the skills should be taught in." Three of the nine participants were previously trained in programs such as Reading Recovery or Wilson. Four of the nine participants shared that they had no idea how to teach phonics and phonemic awareness and were happy to teach using Letterland. One participant reported, "I was basically pulling things out of a hat to teach phonics and phonemic awareness prior to Letterland. I had to figure out what students needed based on

assessments." Another participant stated, "I taught four programs prior to Letterland, and I like Letterland the best."

Table 8

Teaching Experiences Prior to Letterland

Response	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	P8	P9
Reading Recovery teacher—very	X								X
knowledgeable	Λ								Λ
Difficulty teaching phonics and									
phonemic awareness due to no	X		X			X	X		
sequence or structure									
Taught the best I could with the		X					X		
resources I had		Λ					Λ		
Only taught with Letterland					X				
Taught many programs,									
Letterland is the best									
Taught in another state, did not									
have appropriate							X		
materials/resources									
Knowledgeable				X					
Wilson training – Letterland								X	
validated what I already knew								Λ	

Research Question 2, Theme 1: Professional Training Opportunities Necessary to Teach Letterland Successfully to Students

RQ2, Theme 1 focused on professional training opportunities necessary to teach Letterland successfully to students. Participants reported receiving the required initial Letterland professional development training, which was necessary to understanding the program; however, depending on the school/district/county, some received more training than others. Two participants reported attending follow-up training. One participant reported that the most useful training after the initial Letterland training would be one in which teachers could organize and manage all of the Letterland materials by unit, since it

is not bundled that way. Three participants reported that teachers should have content training after the initial Letterland training in order to fully understand the content, as opposed to the program. One participant stated, "We need professional development on the content that we are expected to teach." Another participant said, "Training is needed on learning the skills/rules, how to use the decodable books and teaching sight words." Four participants expressed the need to practice and plan with their grade-level peers, while two participants would like to receive professional learning in regard to small group Letterland interventions in order to meet the needs of all students. One of the teachers shared, "We need to meet with other teachers who teach the same grade level, to share ideas." Participants felt that one day of training is not enough. One participant said, "We need ongoing training each year." One of the participants, stated that she would like professional learning on what can be done to enhance the learning of sophisticated readers, not just struggling readers.

Table 9Professional Training Opportunities Necessary to Teach Letterland Successfully

Response	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	P8	P9
Half-day trainings throughout the school year	X								
Need to make connections with other teachers, share ideas	X		X			X	X		
Learn about common mistakes									
students make in order to		X							
anticipate errors									
Need to learn phonics and phonemic awareness content in	X	X							X
order to teach confidently	Λ	Λ							Λ
Opportunities to do a make-and-									
take with your team			X						
Training to enhance what is								X	
needed for sophisticated readers								Λ	
Initial training	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	\mathbf{X}
Refresher trainings			X		X				
Data and small group			X				X		
intervention training			Λ				Λ		
Top 10 ways to organize				X					
Letterland materials				Λ					
Work with a veteran teacher				X					
Literacy coaches				X					

Research Question 2, Theme 2: Tools Necessary to Teach Letterland Successfully

RQ2, Theme 2 addressed the tools early childhood educators perceived to be necessary to implement the Letterland program successfully. The resources/supplies that participants stated were necessary to teach phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program consisted of decodable books, high-interest books, predictable books, pattern books, Letterland website/app, leveled readers, pocket charts (small), word lists, magnetic word builders, advanced picture cards, 10 passages to go with each unit, and Letterland puzzle. Participant 1 stated that additional decodable books are needed in

addition to high-interest reading books, if the goal is to develop better readers. Six participants stated that additional decodable books are needed, as the Letterland program does not provide enough. Participant 9 reported that she has made over 200 decodable books to match the skills being taught. Four of the nine participants reported that the Letterland APP/website is a must for students and parents.

Table 10

Tools Necessary to Teach Letterland Successfully

Response	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	P8	P9
Decodable books	X			X	X	X		X	X
High-interest books	X			X		X		X	
Predictable books									X
Pattern books	X								
Letterland website/app	X	X					X	X	
Leveled readers	X								
Pocket charts			X						
Letterland CDs with songs		X					X		
All Letterland materials			X			X		X	
Letterland cards (small)				X	X	X	X		
Word lists				X					
Magnetic word builders				X	X				
Advanced picture cards								X	
10 passages to go with each unit									X
Letterland puzzle						X			

Handling Discrepant Cases

Trends and patterns that are opposite to the themes that emerge are considered discrepant cases (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). During data analysis, I found no cases to be discrepant. Although Participant 4 stated that she did not like the Letterland program, she did at the same time state that students do retain the information taught. Like the other participants, she reported that there are a ton of materials and that you really need to

learn the program and be organized, which is similar to what the other participants stated.

Researchers must acknowledge the points-of-view of all participants.

Evidence of Quality

As the researcher of this project study, I clarified who the participants were and how the data were collected, analyzed, and coded. It is important to provide reliable and valid data in order to strengthen credibility. Utilizing audio-recordings, coding software, charts, participant quotes, and member checking, I was able to track and organize my data sources that aligned to RQ1 and RQ2. Should this study be replicated, the same/similar results would be found, and thus dependable. One limitation in this basic qualitative study is the number of participants. There were nine participants, all early childhood teachers who are currently teaching the Letterland program in the United States. Having more participants could have provided a bigger perspective of teachers across the United States.

To ensure credibility, validity and trustworthiness, I called upon a trusted colleague, who has no involvement in the project study, to assist in the research process. The trusted colleague I chose was not a research participant and did not have any special interests in the outcome. I shared and reviewed the findings and the final report of the project study to probe the researcher's thinking.

Findings and Themes in Relation to Literature Review

The findings revealed several areas of alignment with the literature review. The themes of Letterland program/experiences, professional development, and structure and sequence were evident in the project study data and literature review.

This project study focused on the experiences and teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, as well as the resources and supports necessary to use the Letterland program successfully with students. One of the primary outcomes of the study was that eight of the nine teachers interviewed liked the Letterland program, while six participants reported that most typical students learn their letters and corresponding sounds using Letterland. According to Nunn (2019), children who have limited phonological awareness require explicit and systematic instruction to build up their skills. When classroom teaching includes researched-based practices that target specific language and cognitive and reading skills, most students should be able to read (Moats, 2020).

Seven teachers liked the sequence and structure of the systematic program, and five participants reported that the program engaged students. The explicit teaching of phonics assists all students in accessing text and is vital for many children (Castles et al., 2018). Incorporating student engagement and social interaction with text as students are learning to decode and comprehend will increase their ability to make meaning (Moses & Kelly, 2018).

Five of the nine participants indicated they were prepared to teach phonics and phonemic awareness prior to implementing the Letterland program, and four of the teacher participants indicated they had minimal knowledge of teaching phonics and phonemic awareness prior to teaching Letterland and were teaching the best they could with the knowledge and resources they had. According to Ehri and Flugman (2018), many teachers lack the knowledge to teach phonics sufficiently, specifically how to

separate phonemes into spoken words. The evidence of adopting a systematic phonics program, along with sight words, is highly recommended (Castles et al., 2018).

Five participants shared that they were more confident in their teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness since using the Letterland program. Teachers are more willing to change their teaching methods if they have a high level of confidence (Yang, 2019). Participants indicated the need for professional development on phonics and phonemic awareness beyond Letterland for increased knowledge and understanding. According to Thoma (2021), providing professional learning on the use of skills and practices leads to increased student achievement.

Eight participants reported the initial Letterland training was good, with four participants expressing the need to meet with colleagues to discuss ideas and to share teacher practices. When designing professional development, the needs of teachers and how they learn should be met, which is why it is important to incorporate active learning (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). Active learning may involve such activities as collaboration with other teachers.

Six participants stated the need for the Letterland program to have additional decodable books, with four participants reporting the need for high-interest books.

Explicit teaching of phonics, phonemic awareness, and morphological awareness enables children the necessary skills to decode text (Vollebregt et al., 2021). Students need many opportunities to practice the skills they are learning. Reading high-interest books may motivate students to read more and to share their thinking.

Conceptual Framework

The themes emerging from the findings of this project study showed alignment with the conceptual framework. Themes related to the research problem, such as Letterland experiences/programs, support the constructivist learning theory. Five participants stated that the Letterland program is engaging, with two participants stating that the program is multi-sensory and hands-on. Dewey (1963) acknowledged that engaging students with hands-on experiences is important for learning. Dewey also noted the connection between experiences and education. Kolb (1984) believed that knowledge is created through experience.

Seven participants acknowledged that the Letterland program has a great structure and sequence to follow. Teachers explicitly and systematically teach letters and sounds. Participants noted the engaging stories and visual characters that bring together letters and sounds. Vygotsky (1978) considers constructivism as a learning theory where knowledge is created in context.

The Letterland program creates opportunities for children to discover patterns and links to language. The best way for children to learn to read using the constructivist view is to allow children to discover the patterns and links to language after providing the guidance needed to learn how the alphabetic system works (Treiman, 2018). In discussing the Letterland program, one interview respondent stated, "The Letterland characters and stories really engage students." Another respondent shared, "Letterland focuses on thoughtful patterns and sequencing."

Summary of Outcomes

One of the primary outcomes of this project study was that eight of the nine participants interviewed believed that the Letterland program was a good phonics and phonemic awareness program. Six participants shared that their students enjoyed the program, with seven participants noting that they really liked the structure and sequence of the systematic program. Participants shared that the Letterland program is engaging, visual, and multi-sensory.

Nine participants found the program to have a lot of materials, with organization and management of materials key to implementing the program with success. Three teachers felt that the Letterland program was good for new teachers with little experience/knowledge of teaching phonics and phonemic awareness. Five participants indicated they were prepared to teach phonics and phonemic awareness prior to implementing the Letterland program, with four participants indicating they had minimal knowledge of teaching phonics and phonemic awareness prior to teaching Letterland. Participants expressed the need for professional learning opportunities that include organization of materials by unit, meeting with grade-level peers to share ideas and teaching strategies, and professional development on phonics and phonemic awareness content beyond Letterland for increased knowledge and understanding.

Project Based on Outcomes

The findings of this study yielded meaningful data to create and plan a professional development project. Participants in the study reported the need for

professional development in regard to phonics and phonemic awareness content knowledge, decodable books, phonics and phonemic awareness intervention groups, sight words, organization of Letterland materials, collaboration with grade-level colleagues, and a Letterland refresher training.

In addition, participants noted having literacy coaches who provide continuous learning opportunities. Participants discussed small group/cohort trainings as a preference. The project plan will incorporate small groups of teachers, opportunities for sharing, collaboration, hands-on activities, and job-embedded coaching/mentoring.

Section 3: The Project

In order to address the professional needs that were identified in this study, I developed a 3-day professional development project (see Appendix). Participants expressed the importance of ongoing professional development, which could take place in many forms, such as workshops, demonstrations, peer mentoring, and embedded coaching. The additional professional development support will assist teachers as they develop the expertise needed when teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program.

The creation of a 3-day professional development experience will help mold early childhood educators into early childhood phonics and phonemic experts using the Letterland program. The 3-day professional development experience will consist of several components and cohorts:

- training on the content of what needs to be taught and the importance of why
 it needs to be taught
- training on the strategies used to teach the content; in-depth training on the various strategies that students can utilize to add to their action toolbox
- time to practice/plan the content and strategies with their grade-level peers (hands-on activities)

After the 3-day professional development experience, classroom observation, and review of student achievement data, job-embedded literacy coaches will work with individual teachers in their own classrooms in order to provide immediate feedback, both oral and written.

Rationale

The genre I chose for this project study was professional development.

Professional development was determined based on the problem and research findings.

Based on the findings, it was clear that professional development on teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program was needed in order to support teachers, as the program includes a lot of materials and forms.

Study findings showed the need for professional learning opportunities in regard to organizing the Letterland program, decodable books, Letterland small group instruction, assessing phonics and phonemic awareness skills, and teacher collaboration. Participants requested professional development opportunities that did not include all-day lecture style trainings. Requested were opportunities to discuss their teaching craft with their grade-level colleagues in order to share their professional practices when teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, as well as professional development opportunities that increased their knowledge of best practices teaching phonics and phonemic awareness. The professional development plan that I created includes ongoing learning opportunities, coaching, and active learning. Early childhood educators will have the opportunity to have literacy coaches observe their phonics and phonemic awareness practices and offer meaningful feedback, both orally and in writing.

Review of the Literature on Professional Development

The project genre I selected for this study was professional development, as it coordinated well with this study. Professional development is extremely important in effectively implementing the phonics and phonemic awareness program Letterland. I

conducted the literature review by searching multiple databases, such as ERIC and Ebscohost. The search terms were *professional development*, *continuous learning*, *professional training*, *staff development*, *ongoing training*, *continuous professional development*, *collaborative professional learning*, *effective professional learning*, and *workplace training*.

The results of the review of literature provided me guidance on creating my project with a focus on learning and ongoing improvement, models/formats of effective professional development, effective professional development for teachers, self-efficacy, teacher learning, and the characteristics of effective development. There are several models/formats of professional development for teachers, which include, but are not limited to, professional support from experienced teachers to newly hired teachers, workshops at schools, teacher study groups, peer observation, extended training courses (series of workshops), opportunities for informal self-learning, professional learning communities, teacher networks, college credit courses, coaching and mentoring, partnerships between schools and universities in supporting collaborative research, workshops outside of school, conferences, action research, and online training programs (Abu-Tineh & Sadiq, 2018).

Effective Professional Development Characteristics

Developing and growing as an effective educator takes time and commitment.

The impact that teachers have on student learning cannot be ignored or overlooked.

Teachers are the most important element of teaching and learning; however, many find it difficult to keep up with the fast pace of educational research (Merchie et al., 2016). It is

up to schools and school districts to prioritize professional learning within the context of the school day, if the goal is to improve teacher practice and increase student learning outcomes. Effective professional development is needed if teachers are required and expected to assist students with the sophisticated development of content mastery, self-direction, and critical thinking (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017).

Effective professional development is defined by Darling-Hammond et al. (2017) as learning that is structured, changes teacher practices, and increases student learning outcomes. Darling-Hammond et al. identified seven elements of effective professional development (see Table 11).

Table 11Elements of Professional Development

Element	Description
Content-focused	Focuses on specific curriculum and strategies
Active learning	Engages teachers in creating and trying out teaching
	strategies
Collaboration	Teachers share ideas and collaborate
Coaching and expert support	Coaching focuses on individual teachers
Models of effective practice	Teachers view models of instruction of what best practice looks like
Feedback and reflection	Built-in time for teachers to reflect and receive input
	in order to make changes in practice
Sustained duration	Time to learn, practice, and implement new strategies
	and change in instructional practice

According to research, professional development is valuable to teachers and students (Baker et al., 2017). Effective professional development must address knowledge gaps and focus on research-based skills and strategies (Cavazos et al., 2018). Professional development is meant to support and improve teacher practice (Noonan, 2018). When research-based strategies are embedded into professional development

opportunities, there is a greater chance for teacher learning (Smith et al., 2020). When teachers improve their practice, students have a better chance of improving their learning outcomes.

In the design of professional development experiences, the needs of teachers, specifically how they learn, should be met, which is why it is important to incorporate active learning (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). Active learning may involve such activities as data analysis, collaboration with other teachers about data, engagement in student learning activities with team teachers, and collaboration that includes one-on-one or small group interactions (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). Educators are more likely to assist their peers when they participate in professional development of a longer duration (Pak et al., 2020).

Peer coaching has the potential to improve teacher practice and learning and self-efficacy (Ma et al., 2018). Professional development that is not followed up with feedback and/or support will rarely result in a change in instructional practices (Cavazos et al., 2018). Early childhood teachers need to receive high-quality professional development, as lack of qualification in early reading skills can lead to negative consequences (Martinez et al., 2021). Teachers often continue their regular ways of teaching after receiving professional development, because most professional development activities are not supported by the work that is done in classroom (Collet, 2015).

Student performance can only be improved when teachers deliver high-quality instruction (Didion et al., 2019). Desimone's (2011) conceptual framework explains five

core features that should be included in professional development if the goal is to increase teacher knowledge and improve student learning outcomes: content-focused, active learning, coherence, duration, and collective participation. According to Desimone (2011), professional development activities should focus on content area matter and how students learn that specific content. Teachers should also be given time to observe and receive feedback. Groups of teachers from the same grade and/or subject areas should participate in the professional development together in order to build a strong learning community; the professional development should include at least 20 hours or more (Desimone, 2011). Teacher professional development is more meaningful when multiple formats are combined, such as workshops on teacher knowledge and best practices, on content and student learning outcomes, and on student data and coaching (Didion et al., 2019). Professional development provided in only one session is reviewed poorly by teachers and does not develop their understanding of the information being provided (Didion et al., 2019). Improving and changing teacher practice is a complex process that occurs over weeks, months, and years; it does not occur in one session (Main et al., 2020). Developing high-quality teachers is extremely important in closing student achievement gaps. Having systemwide supports in place to improve student learning outcomes through professional development is crucial (Stahmer et al., 2020).

Professional Development Impact on Student Achievement

In order for professional development to be effective, it should change teacher practice and improve student learning outcomes. Having highly qualified teachers in classrooms does more for student achievement than having smaller student—teacher ratios

(Gupta & Lee, 2020). Teachers have increasing amounts of tasks added to their plate each day, one of which is to improve student achievement. There is a solid belief that effective professional development has the potential for positive effects on student achievement (Gore et al., 2021). Improving student achievement requires changes in teacher practice. Effective professional development is not only necessary, but a must. Early literacy instruction must focus on many skills, such as phonological awareness, phonics, and print concepts. Providing professional learning on the use of these skills and practices leads to increased student achievement (Thoma, 2021).

Professional Development Effects on Teachers' Self-Efficacy

Teachers are expected to teach sophisticated skills and strategies; therefore, they must be confident and knowledgeable in the subject matter they teach. Effective professional development should change teachers' beliefs and practices so that it leads to improved student learning (Yang, 2019). The way in which a teacher feels about their ability to confidently present information in an engaging matter greatly impacts the quality of instruction and student engagement. Teachers are more willing to change their teaching methods if they have a high level of confidence (Yang, 2019). The job of a teacher has become increasingly challenging, and how a teacher feels about their capabilities in the classroom can have negative effects. Teacher self-efficacy is recognized as a predictor of teacher effectiveness (Buric & Kim, 2019). Teachers who have high self-efficacy also reflect positively on job satisfaction (Kasalak & Dagyar, 2020).

Project Description

Based on the findings from this project study as well as the literature review on professional development, I planned a 3-day professional development experience for first-grade teachers. The goal is to help teachers enhance their phonics and phonemic awareness teaching using the Letterland program. Guidance from this study and literature review suggests that professional development should be ongoing and consist of 20+ hours in order to change teacher behaviors in the classroom. Literacy coaches should follow up with teachers shortly after the training to assist the teachers in making behavioral changes by observing the teachers, reviewing student achievement data, offering meaningful feedback, and offering professional collaboration. The components of the project include grade-level cohorts, hands-on activities, collaboration, sharing of ideas and activities, and planning small group instruction based on the individual needs of students, followed up with observation and collaboration with the literacy coaches, as well as oral and written feedback.

The first day of the 3-day professional development experience will consist of grade-level cohorts working together to organize their Letterland materials by unit, given that according to the interview participants, this was the most important and overwhelming task in properly implementing the program with fidelity. Teachers will then share with the larger group how they organized their materials by unit and what they included with each unit. During the last session of the day, a literacy coach will conduct a model demonstration lesson of what is expected during the Letterland phonics and

phonemic awareness block. Teachers will then discuss the demonstration lesson and share how they can include all of the expected components in their lessons.

Day 2 of the professional development experience will include learning how to assess their students' phonemic awareness abilities and plan specific lessons and activities to address the students' needs. Teachers will practice assessing students with their assigned grade-level cohort, as well as design lessons and activities to address deficiencies. During the last session of the day, teachers will learn how to collect meaningful data that will drive their phonics and phonemic awareness instruction.

Day 3 of the professional development experience will include Letterland small group intervention training. Teachers will learn how to group students and how to plan meaningful and purposeful intensive phonics and phonemic awareness instruction that makes a difference. Teachers will have the opportunity to create meaningful small group phonics and phonemic awareness lessons with their grade-level cohort. During the last session of the day, teachers will learn strategies to develop their students' fluency rate, accuracy, and automaticity. Teachers will work with their grade-level cohorts in order to develop fluency and automaticity lessons and activities.

One week after the 3-day professional development experience, literacy coaches will visit and observe classrooms during their Letterland phonics and phonemic awareness block to see how teachers are implementing the program and offer meaningful feedback, orally and in writing, using the Letterland Fidelity Checklist (see Appendix). Literacy coaches will review student data and observe small group phonics and phonemic awareness instruction using the Letterland program in order to assist with the appropriate

grouping and targeted intensive instruction. One month later, the literacy coaches will meet with the grade-level teachers during their professional learning community to review patterns and trends from the walkthroughs. One week later, the literacy coaches will conduct classroom visits and observations to assist the teachers and offer meaningful feedback that improves instruction using the Letterland Fidelity Checklist. This pattern will continue throughout the school year. Teachers will receive monthly phonics and phonemic awareness training using the Letterland program via the literacy coach, followed up with a classroom visit/observation and meaningful feedback, oral and written, using the Letterland Fidelity Checklist (see Appendix).

Resources

The resources needed include supervisor of English language arts (K-2) to facilitate the large group sessions and literacy coaches to facilitate grade-level cohorts (first grade). Each cohort will contain six to eight grade-level teachers by building. The 3-day professional development will be held in one of the school facilities. Literacy coaches will conduct class visits/observations. Administrators will support the teachers and literacy coaches. The literacy coaches will distribute the materials and evaluation forms.

Existing Supports

Building principals and district administrators support professional development opportunities for teachers, as they are much needed in order to improve teaching and learning across the district. Job-embedded literacy coaches are in place across the district,

as well as available facilities for small and large group sessions. Professional learning communities are also in place for ongoing continuous learning.

Potential Barriers

Due to COVID-19 and a national shortage of substitutes, there is a possibility that there may not be enough substitutes on any given day for all early childhood teachers to attend the 3-day professional development experience. Should some teachers be unable to attend portions of the professional development, there may be a lack of buy-in for organizational change and continuous improvement, which will have a great impact on improving student learning outcomes.

Potential Solutions to Barriers

A possible solution to the potential barrier of not having enough substitutes on any given day of the 3-day professional development experience would be to utilize guidance counselors and special area teachers to cover classrooms so that all first-grade teachers can meet, work, and grow together. This would send the message that professional growth and student achievement is a district priority. In the end, teachers and students will reap the benefits and rewards of continuous learning and school improvement.

Proposal for Implementation and Timeline

I will present the proposed 3-day professional development plan to administration and literacy coaches by July 15, 2022 in order to give them enough time to plan appropriately for a September 2022 implementation. In September 2022, teachers are assigned to their grade-level cohorts by building. Teachers initially meet with the large

group and then break into grade-level cohorts by building. This 3-day professional development experience in September will help set the tone for the school year. At the end of the school year, teachers, building principals, and district administrators will meet to discuss steps for the following school year.

Roles and Responsibilities

I have developed a 3-day professional development experience and will present it to building principals, district administrators, and literacy coaches for feedback. District principals will have all first-grade teachers put in for 3 professional days via the district's attendance program. Teachers will request substitutes. The English Language Arts supervisor for grades K-2 will prepare the professional development days with the first-grade literacy coaches. Literacy coaches will be assigned to teachers/building in order to provide visits/observations and oral and written feedback each month. The participating first-grade teachers must engage in professional learning communities each week, in addition to the 3-day professional development experience.

Project Evaluation Plan

Types of Evaluation and Justification

A formative evaluation would align best with this 3-day professional development experience. The professional development evaluation is a self-reflection of the impact that the professional development has on instructional practices and participant professional growth at the time the professional development is provided. The feedback is given in real time, as opposed to summative evaluation, in which feedback is given at the end of a course/program.

The 3-day professional development experience happens in stages, with continuous ongoing learning. Formative evaluation is most appropriated, as learning is progressing and is self-reflective. Summative evaluation would not be appropriate for this type of professional learning, as there is no measurement of what is being learned, as all learners may be in a different place at different times. See Appendix for Formative Evaluation.

Professional learning must be linked to changes and results. It is important to know what types of professional development activities are associated with positive change and continuous improvement. The first step in evaluating professional development is determining what outcomes are expected (Merchie et al., 2016).

Overall Evaluation Goals

Formative evaluations have several goals. One goal is to provide feedback to instructors on how to improve teaching and learning. Additional goals are to improve the academic achievement of students, define learning goals, and personalize learning experiences.

Key Stakeholders

Key stakeholders for this project are teachers, administrators, and students.

Teachers would receive the direct benefit of the continuous learning plan and professional growth. Administrators would benefit from building and strengthening the human capacity in their school building by improving the teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program. Students will reap the rewards of the

improved teaching and learning of phonics/phonemic awareness using the Letterland program and, in turn, improve their learning outcomes.

Project Implications

Social Change Implications

This project study is focused on supporting early childhood teachers in teaching phonics and phonemic awareness utilizing the Letterland program. The possible social change implications would include early childhood teachers being more skilled at teaching the very important foundational skills of phonics and phonemic awareness. If the teachers are better equipped, early childhood students may increase their learning outcomes.

Importance of the Project

The project I created was the result of a study that focused on the experiences and teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, as well as the resources and supports needed to use the Letterland program more effectively. The professional development project was aimed at improving the teaching of Letterland and increasing the knowledge and understanding of early childhood teachers. It is my hope that the 3-day professional development experience will strengthen the teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness using Letterland in a collaborative, hands-on manner throughout the school year, so that teachers welcome and foster a continuous learning environment for improvement.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

Project Strengths and Limitations

I created a project using my literature review on professional development and my study findings. The project addresses the need for professional learning as perceived by the teachers interviewed in several states across the country, which could have profound effects on the local school district. The project plan includes guidance from the professional development literature.

Overall, data gained from my participant interviews align with the results of the literature review, which strengthens my project design. The problem noted in Section 1 was the large number of students reading below grade level and the lack of phonics and phonemic awareness training for teachers. Early childhood teachers need to receive high-quality professional development, as lack of qualification in early reading skills can lead to negative consequences (Martinez et al., 2021).

To address this instructional problem, the local school district must develop high-quality teachers in order to close the achievement gaps. One-day workshops are not enough to change instructional behaviors in the classroom; it is crucial that districts have systemwide supports in place to improve student learning outcomes through professional development (Stahmer et al., 2020). Effective professional development should change the beliefs and practices of teachers so that it leads to improved student learning (Yang, 2019).

I am confident that the professional development project I created will enhance teaching and learning and assist in changing teacher behaviors, as the plan addresses the

elements of effective professional development and targets phonics and phonemic awareness skills using the Letterland program. Effective professional development is needed if teachers are required and expected to assist students with the sophisticated development of content mastery, self-direction, and critical thinking (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017).

The professional development project that I created includes content knowledge, hands-on activities, collaboration with peers, and follow-up observations in which teachers are provided with oral and written feedback. Professional development trainings must take into account the needs of teachers, specifically how they learn, which is why it is important to incorporate active learning (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). The way teachers feel about their ability to confidently present information in an engaging matter greatly impacts the quality of instruction and student engagement. Teachers are more willing to change their teaching methods if they have a high level of confidence (Yang, 2019).

The limitations of the project are teacher buy-in and participant motivation.

Leaders at the local school district can do everything in their power to motivate, inspire, and teach; however, teachers are the ones who must take ownership of their own learning and make behavioral/instructional changes in the classroom. Another limitation of the study is the transferability of skills from what is learned in the training to what takes place in the classroom. Teachers may love the new program; however, they may need additional support in the classroom to effectively implement the program. Teachers may effectively implement the program; however, there may be students who need additional

supports and individualized interventions. It is difficult to control and/or predict the outcome.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

Despite district implementation of the Letterland phonics program, early childhood students continue to struggle with mastery of phonics and phonemic awareness skills, suggesting that improvements may be needed in program implementation. The intention of district leaders in implementing the Letterland phonics and phonemic awareness program was to improve early childhood teachers' prereading teaching skills and to increase the number of below-grade-level students attaining grade-level reading. Even though some teachers felt prepared to teach phonics and phonemic awareness, as they had professional development training using programs such as Read Recovery and Wilson, it may be necessary to look at the broader problem. The alternative approach to the problem may be much broader than addressing the issue during professional development trainings.

An alternative approach would be to conduct a program evaluation on Letterland.

A program evaluation would assist the district in improving the quality of the phonics and phonemic awareness program. Basic questions regarding the strengths, weaknesses, and effectiveness of the program would assist the district in making informed decisions about the program.

The district can also conduct focused walkthroughs during Letterland, concentrating on various components of the program in order to collect trend data to drive future professional development and to support teachers. In addition, district leaders

may wish to collect and analyze quantitative student data to find patterns and trends across grade levels and to find strengths and weaknesses in the curriculum program. Any changes and/or professional development offered would be data driven.

Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change

Guidance from both the literature review and findings of the study informed the creation of the project. Had I not completed these two stages in the process, the project would look very different and would not be grounded in research. Based on the findings of the semistructured interviews, I chose professional development as the project genre. The findings in Section 2 indicated that teachers did not want to attend workshops in which they were lectured to for hours on end. Findings from the literature review on professional development in Section 3 indicated the need for ongoing continuous learning of 20 or more hours, which is why I planned a year-long professional development learning experience. Professional development provided in one session is reviewed poorly by teachers and does not develop their understanding of the information provided (Didion et al., 2019). Teacher professional development is more meaningful when multiple formats are combined, such as workshops on teacher knowledge and best practices, or content and student learning outcomes (Didion et al., 2019).

Based on the findings from my literature review on professional development, I decided to include active learning in order for teachers to be active participants in their learning. Working with their grade-level peers, teachers will create lessons and activities to bring back to use in their classroom immediately to assist them in making instructional and behavioral changes in the classroom. Active learning includes hands-on activities in

which the learner is trying to make sense of the information and for which the information is also modeled (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017).

The literature reviews also revealed the need to include coaching as part of the professional development support system. Teacher professional development is more meaningful when multiple formats are combined, such as workshops on teacher knowledge and best practices, or content and student learning outcomes (Didion et al., 2019). I added literacy coaches and a continuous learning plan to the 3-day professional development experience in order to increase the success of the professional learning opportunity.

Based on my study findings, teachers would like to collaborate with their grade-level teams, as they feel that it is an important aspect of growing as a professional. The literature review supports this, so I added collaboration to my project for increased success. Active learning should include collaboration that includes one-on-one or small group interactions (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017).

I reflected on the data received from both my participant interviews and literature review as I designed the project to include best practices. The intention is to increase teacher knowledge in the area of phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program and for teachers to teach more effectively. This should also increase teacher confidence and change instructional behaviors and, as a result, improve student learning outcomes.

Personal Learning

Being a school administrator for many years, I have experience creating professional development workshops. Most of the workshops offered have been 1-day workshops in regard to a new program and/or curriculum being implemented. Having completed literature reviews on foundational skills/phonics and phonemic awareness and effective professional development, I have rethought and reflected on the type of professional development that teachers need if they are to make real instructional changes in the classroom.

After creating a 3-day professional development experience for early childhood teachers, supported by research and ongoing throughout the school year, I am confident that instructional change can be made. I know firsthand the value of research-based best practices. For school leaders, it is important to lead change, utilizing practices that are supported by research.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

As a researcher, I recognize that it is important to make decisions that are grounded in research and aligned with goals of the district and school. Reflecting on the participant interviews and creation of the 3-day professional development experience, with ongoing continuous learning throughout the school year, I am confident that the project that I designed will result in positive instructional change in the classroom, as I have learned the value of the research process and the framework for planning.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research Implications for Social Change

As teachers in the local school district become stronger in teaching phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program, they will feel more confident in the materials they are teaching. Social change is possible as more students will experience success when learning important foundational skills that are required to read. The climate and culture of schools may greatly improve if more students achieve at higher levels.

Implications for Methodology

This project study provided a multitude of learning experiences. Researching various studies through the extensive literature review helped bring about new insights. The doctoral project study process has taught me how to think critically and how to create themes using codes. It was a challenging but rewarding experience trying to obtain participants to take part in the study and collect and analyze data, all while composing meaningful scholarly writing.

Future Research

Future research that would be most valuable in regard to the teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness in early childhood classrooms would involve looking at the broader picture and looking at how colleges/universities prepare teachers to teach prereading/foundational skills. To effectively teach reading in the early childhood classroom, teacher candidates should receive proper training on the science behind reading so that teacher candidates have a good understanding of the skills and strategies children need to learn how to read.

Future research may also include quantitative studies that collect and analyze student data in order to find patterns and trends in the data to help drive future program decisions based on the strengths, weaknesses, and effectiveness of the program. In addition, focused walkthroughs can be conducted during the phonics and phonemic awareness block in order to collect and analyze trend data to drive future professional development experiences based on staff needs.

Conclusion

The teaching of phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program can be extremely rewarding, as eight of the nine participants liked the program and loved the materials provided. Although several participants felt that the program had an overwhelming number of forms and materials that made early implementation difficult, most overcame the problem with time and organization. Eight of the nine participants liked following Letterland's structure and sequence. Six participants reported that most typical students learned their letters and corresponding sounds, while at the same time they found the program to be engaging.

After concluding the study, the Letterland program understandably has value in meeting the needs of students in regard to teaching phonics and phonemic awareness. In order to maximize student learning outcomes, the professional development staff's needs must be acknowledged and supported by administrators. An effort will be made in sharing the knowledge and benefits of high-quality professional development regarding phonics and phonemic awareness using the Letterland program.

References

- Abu-Tineh, A., & Sadiq, H. (2018). Characteristics and models of effective professional development: The case of school teachers in Qatar. *Professional Development in Education*, 44(2), 311–322. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2017.1306788
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*, 42, 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7
- Baker, J., Chaseling, M., Boyd, W., & Shipway, B. (2017). Teachers' response to a new mandatory professional development process: Does it make a difference?

 *Professional Development in Education, 44(4), 570–582.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2017.1378706
- Baker, S. K., Santiago, R. T., Masser, J., Nelson, N. J., & Turtura, J. (2018). *The alphabetic principle: From phonological awareness to reading words*. U.S.

 Department of Education, Office of Elementary and Secondary Education, Office of Special Education Programs, National Center on Improving Literacy.

 https://improvingliteracy.org/brief/alphabetic-principle-phonological-awareness-reading-words
- Bouncke, R., Quiu, Y., Sinkowics, N., & Wolfgan, K. (2021). Qualitative research: Extending the range with flexible pattern matching. *Review of Managerial Science*, *15*, 251–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-021-00451-2
- Bowers, J. S., & Bowers, P. N. (2018, July 11). There is no evidence to support the hypothesis that systematic phonics should precede morphological instruction:

 Response to Rastle and colleagues. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/mvdqr

- Buric, I., & Kim, L. (2019). Teacher self-efficacy, instructional quality, and student motivational beliefs: An analysis using multilevel structured equation modeling.

 Learning and Instruction, 66, Article 101302.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2019.101302
- Callaghan, G., & Madelaine, A. (2012). Levelling the playing field for kindergarten entry: Research implications for preschool early literacy instruction. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, *37*(1), 13–23.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/183693911203700103
- Camahalan, F. M., & Wyraz, G. (2015). Using additional literacy time and variety of reading programs. *Reading Improvement*, *52*(1), 19–26.

 https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/prin/rimp
- Campbell, S. (2018, August 15). Teaching phonics without teaching phonics: Early childhood teachers' reported beliefs and practices. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468798418791001
- Campbell, S., Torr, J., & Cologon, K. (2014). Pre-packaging preschool literacy: What drives early childhood teachers to use commercially produced phonics programs in prior to school settings. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, *15*(1), 40–53. https://doi.org/10.2304/ciec.2014.15.1.40
- Carson, K., Bayetto, A., & Roberts, A. (2018). Effectiveness of preschool-wide teacher-implemented phoneme awareness and letter-sound knowledge instruction on code-based school-entry reading readiness. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 41(1), 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525740118789061

- Cassady, J., Smith, L., & Thomas, C. (2018). Supporting emergent literacy for English language learners with computer assisted instruction. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 41(2), 350–369. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.12110
- Castles, A., Rastle, K., & Nation, K. (2018). Ending the reading wars: Reading acquisition from novice to expert. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 19(1), 5–51. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100618772271
- Cavazos, L, Linan-Thompson, S., & Ortiz, A. (2018). Job-embedded professional development for teachers of English learners: Preventing literacy difficulties through effective core instruction. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 41(3), 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406418758465
- Cellante, D., & Donne, V. (2013). A program evaluation process to meet the needs of English language learners. *Education*, *134*(1), 1–8.

 https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/prin/ed
- Chall, J. S. (1983). Stages of reading development. McGraw-Hill.
- Chancellor, R., & Lee, S. (2016). Storytelling, oral history, and building the library community. *Storytelling, Self, Society*, *12*(1), 39–54.

 https://doi.org/10.13110/storselfsoci.12.1.0039
- Clemens, N. H., Lai, M. H., Burke, M., & Wu, J. (2017). Interrelations of growth in letter naming and sound fluency in kindergarten and implications for subsequent reading fluency. *School Psychology Review*, 46(3), 272–287.

 https://doi.org/10.17105/SPR-2017-0032.V46-3

- Cohen, J., & Brady, M. (2011). Acquisition and generalization of word decoding in students with reading disabilities by integrating vowel pattern analysis and children's literature. *Education & Treatment of Children*, *34*(1), 81–117. https://doi.org/10.1353/etc.2011.0006
- Collet, V. S. (2015). The gradual increase of responsibility model for coaching teachers: Scaffolds for change. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, *4*(4), 269–292.
- Common Core State Standards Initiative. (n.d.). *Read the standards*. http://www.corestandards.org/read-the-standards/
- Creswell, J. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (5th ed.). Sage.
- Cummins, J. (2016). Reflections on Cummins (1980), "The cross-lingual dimensions of language proficiency: Implications for bilingual education and the optimal age issue." *TESOL Quarterly*, *50*(4), 940–944. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.339
- Cunningham, P. M. (2011). Best practices in teaching phonological awareness and phonics. In L. M. Morrow & L. B. Gambrell (Eds.), *Best practices in literacy instruction* (4th ed., pp. 199–223). Guilford.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M. E., & Gardner, M. (2017, June). *Effective teacher professional development*. Learning Policy Institute.

 https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/teacher-prof-dev

- Denton, C., Fletcher, J., Taylor, P., Barth, A., & Vaugh, S. (2014). An experimental evaluation of guided reading and explicit interventions for primary-grade students at-risk for reading difficulties. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 7(3), 268–293. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2014.906010
- Desimone, L. M. (2011). A primer on effective professional development. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(6), 68–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/003172171109200616
- Dewey, J. (1963). Experience and education. The Kappa Delta Pi lecture series.

 Macmillan Publishing.
- Diamond, K., & Baroody, A. (2013). Associations among name writing and alphabetic skills in prekindergarten and kindergarten children at risk of school failure.

 Journal of Early Intervention, 35(1), 20–39.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815113499611
- Didion, L., Toste, J. R., & Filderman, M. J. (2019). Teacher professional development and student reading achievement: A meta-analytic review of the effects. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, *13*(1), 29–66.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2019.1670884
- Double, K., McGrane, J. A., Stiff, J. C., & Hopfenbeck, T. N. (2019). The importance of early phonics improvements for predicting later reading comprehension. *British Educational Research Journal*, 45(6), 1220–1234.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/berj.3559

- Dussling, T. (2018). Examining the effectiveness of a supplemental reading intervention on the early literacy skills of English language learner. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, *57*(3), 276–285. https://doi.org/10.1080/19388071.2018.1453898
- Earle, G., & Sayeski, K. (2017). Systematic instruction in phoneme-grapheme correspondence for students with reading disabilities. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 52(5), 262–269. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451216676798
- Ehri, L. (2005). Learning to read words: Theory, findings, and issues. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 9(2), 167–168. https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532799xssr0902_4
- Ehri, L., & Flugman, B. (2018). Mentoring teachers in systematic phonics instruction:

 Effectiveness of an intensive year-long program for kindergarten through 3rd grade teachers and their students. *Reading and Writing*, *31*(2), 425–456.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-017-9792-7
- Ehri, L., Nunes, S., Stahl, S., & Willows, D. (2001). Systematic phonics instruction helps students learn to read: Evidence from the national reading panel's meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 71(3), 393–447.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543071003393
- Fitton, L., McIlraith, A., & Wood, C. (2018). Shared book reading interventions with English learners: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 88(5), 712–751. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654318790909
- Florit, E., & Cain, K. (2011). The simple view of reading: Is it valid for different types of alphabetic orthographies? *Educational Psychology Review*, 23(4), 553–576. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-011-9175-6

- Ghattas, N. I., & Carver, J. S. (2017). Cultural responsiveness of the next generation science standards. *Journal of STEM Teacher Education*, 52(1), 17–30. https://doi.org/10.30707/jste52.1ghattas
- Gillon, G. (2018). *Phonological awareness: From research to practice* (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Goldstein, H., Olszewski, A., Haring, C., Greenwood, C., McCune, L., Carta, J., Atwater, J., Guerrero, G., Schneider, N., McCarthy, T., & Kelley, E. (2017). Efficacy of a supplemental phonemic awareness curriculum to instruct preschoolers with delays in early literacy development. *Journal of Speech, Language and Hearing**Research, 60(1), 89–103. https://doi.org/10.1044/2016_jslhr-l-15-0451
- Gore, J., Miller, A., Fray, L. Harris, J., & Prieto, E. (2021). Improving student achievement through professional development: Results from a randomized controlled trial of quality teaching rounds. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *101*, Article 103297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103297
- Great Schools Partnership. (2014). *The glossary of education reform*. www.edglossary.org/learning-standards/
- Groth, K. (2020). In what ways can phonemic awareness skills be targeted strategically in early childhood classrooms to support healthy developmental growth?

 [Master's thesis, Concordia University]. Concordia University Digital Commons.

 https://digitalcommons.csp.edu/teacher-education_masters/24

- Gupta, A., & Lee, G. (2020). The effects of a site-based teacher professional development program on student learning. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, *12*(5), 417–428.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.26822/iejee.2020562132
- Hanford, E. (2018, September 10). Why are we still teaching reading the wrong way?

 [Audio podcast episode]. In *The Educate Podcast*. APM Reports.

 https://www.apmreports.org/episode/2018/09/10/hard-words-why-american-kids-arent-being-taught-to-read
- Harmey, S., & Kabuto, B. (2018). Metatheoretical differences between running records and miscue analysis: Implications for analysis of oral reading behaviors. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 53(1), 11–33. http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/10058925/
- Hart, B., & Risley, T. (1995). Meaningful differences in the everyday experiences of young American children. Paul H. Brooks Publishing.
- Johnston, L., Mercer, S., & Geres-Smith, R. (2018). Incorporating vocabulary instruction in individual reading fluency interventions with English language learners.

 *Canadian Journal of School Psychology, 33(1), 63–81.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573516658855
- Kamps, D., Abbott, M., Greenwood, C., Arreaga-Mayer, C., Wills, H., Longstaff, J., Longstaff, J., Culpepper, M., & Walton, C. (2007). Use of evidence-based, small-group reading instruction for English language learners in elementary grades:
 Secondary-tier intervention. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 30(3),153–168.
 https://doi.org/10.2307/30035561

- Kara, M. (2019). A systematic literature review: Constructivism in multidisciplinary learning environments. *International Journal of Academic Research in Education*, 4(1–2), 19–26. https://doi.org/100.17098/ijace52066
- Kasalak, G., & Dagyar, M. (2020). The relationship between teacher self-efficacy and teacher job satisfaction: A meta-analysis of the teaching and learning international survey (TALIS). *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 20(3), 16–33. http://dx.doi.org/10.12738/jestp.2020.3.002
- Keesey, S., Konrad, M., & Joseph, L., (2014). Word boxes improve phonemic awareness, letter-sound correspondences, and spelling skills of at-risk kindergartners.

 *Remedial and Special Education, 36(3), 167–180.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932514543927
- Kelly, K. (2014). What it is and how it works. https://www.understood.org/
- Kesler, A., Shamir-Inbal, T., & Blau, I. (2021). Active learning by visual programming:
 Pedagogical perspectives of instructivist and constructivist code teachers and their implications on actual teaching strategies and students' programing artifacts.
 Journal of Educational Computing Research, 60(1), 28–55.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/07356331211011793
- Keys to Literacy. (n.d.). *Keys to phonics and* Letterland. https://keystoliteracy.com/offering/keys-to-phonics/
- Klingbeil, D. A., Moeyaert, M., Archer, C. T., Chimboza, T. M., & Zwolski, S. A., Jr. (2017). Efficacy of peer-mediated incremental rehearsal for English language

- learners. *School Psychology Review*, *46*(1), 122–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2017.12087605
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. Prentice-Hall.
- Kosnik, C., Menna, L., Dharamshi, P., & Bock, C. (2018). Constructivism as a framework for literacy teacher education course: The cases of six literacy teacher educators. *Education Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(1), 1–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2017.1372742
- Lemons, C., Mrachko, A., Kostewicz, D., Douglas, E., & Paterra, M. (2012).

 Effectiveness of decoding and phonological awareness interventions for children with down syndrome. *Exceptional Children*, 79(1), 67–90.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291207900104
- Lesaux, N. (2012). Reading and reading instruction for children from low-income and non-English speaking households. *Future of Children*, 22(2), 73–88. https://doi.org/10.1353/foc.2012.0010
- Logan, J. A. R., Justice, L. M., Yumuş, M., & Chaparro-Moreno, L. J. (2019). When children are not read to at home: the million-word gap. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 40(5), 383–386. https://doi.org/10.1097/dbp.00000000000000057
- Ma, N., Xin, S., & Du, J. (2018). A peer coaching-based professional development approach to improving the learning participation and learning design skills on inservice teachers. *Educational Technology & Society*, 21(2), 291–304.

- Main, S., Konza, D., Hackling, M., & Lock, G. (2020). Professional learning in reading instruction: The influence of context on engagement and enactment. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 45(6). http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2020v45n6.5
- Martinez, V., Castejon, L., & Gonzalez-Pumariega, S. (2021). The effect of efficient professional development on the teaching of code-focused skills in beginner readers: Exploring the impact of professional development intensity and coaching on student outcomes. *Reading and Writing*, *35*, 1711–1730.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-021-10250-6
- Mattar, J. (2018). Constructivism and connectivism in education technology: Active situated, authentic, experiential and anchored learning. *Revista Iberoamericana de Educación a Distancia*, 21(2),1–13. https://doi.org/10.5944/ried.21.2.20055
- Merchie, E., Tuytens, M., Devos, G., & Vanderlinde, R. (2016). Evaluating teachers' professional development initiatives: Towards an extended evaluative framework. *Research Papers in Education*, 33(2), 143–168.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2016.1271003
- Moats, L. (2020). Teaching reading is rocket science. What expert teachers of reading should know and be able to do. *American Educator*, *Summer 2020*. 4–12. https://www.aft.org/ae/summer2020/moats
- Moody, S., Hu, X., Kuo, L., Jouhar, M., Xu, Z., & Lee, S. (2018). Vocabulary instruction: A critical analysis of theories, research, and practice. *Education Sciences*, 8(4), 1–22. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/educsci8040180

- Moses, L., & Kelly, L. (2018). 'We're a little loud. That's because we like to read!'

 Developing positive views of reading in a diverse, urban first grade. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, 18(3), 307–337.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1468798416662513
- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, Council of Chief State School Officers (2010). *Common core state standards*. National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, Council of Chief State School Officers.
- National Reading Panel. (2000). *Report of the national reading panel. Teaching children* to read. https://www.nichd.nih.gov/publications/pubs/nrp/intro
- Neuman, S., & Roskos (2005). Whatever happened to developmentally appropriate practice in early literacy? *Young Children*, 60(4), 22–26. https://www.jstor.org/stable/i40102728
- Noltemeyer, A., Joseph, L., & Kunesh, C. (2013). Effects of supplemental small group phonics instruction on kindergartners' word recognition performance. *Reading Improvement*, 50(3), 121–144. https://www.projectinnovation.com/reading-improvement.html
- Noonan, J. (2018). An affinity for learning: Teacher identity and powerful professional development. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 70(5). https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487118788838
- Nunn, S. (2019, August 6). *Project 5.2.4: Evidence-based practices for teaching phonological and phonemic awareness*. Regional Education Laboratory.

- Ozernov-Palchik, O., Norton, E., Sideris, G., Beach, S., Wolf, M., Gabrieli, J., & Gaab, N. (2016). Longitudinal stability of pre-reading skill profiles of kindergarten children: implications for early screening and theories of reading. *Developmental Science*, 20(5), e12471. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12471
- Paige, D., Rupley. W., Smith, G., Olinger, C., & Leslie, M. (2018). Acquisition of letter naming knowledge, phonological awareness, and spelling knowledge of kindergarten children at risk for learning to read. *Child Development Research*, 2018, Article 2142894. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/2142894
- Pak, K., Desimone, L. M., & Parsons, A. (2020). An integrative approach to professional development to support college- and career-readiness standards. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 28(111). http://dx.doi.org/10.14507/epaa.28.4970
- Pearson. (2011). One teacher, one student. Assessment for personalized instruction.

 Pearson.

 http://assets.pearsonschool.com/asset_mgr/current/201316/ReaBro121705DRA2_lo.pdf
- Piasta, S., & Wagner, R. (2010). Learning letter names and sounds: effects of instruction, letter type, and phonological processing skill. *Journal of Experimental Child**Psychology, 105(4), 324–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2009.12.008
- Polona, J., & Hus, V. (2019). Representation of teaching strategies on constructivism in social studies. *International Journal of Innovation and Learning*, 25(1), 64–77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1504/IJIL.2019.096535

- Qiu, J., (2019). A preliminary study of English mobile learning model based on constructivism. *Theory and Practice Studies*, *9*(9), 1167–1172. http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0909.13
- Rahn, N. L., Wilson, J., Egan, A., Brandes, D., Kunkel, A., Peterson, M., & McComas, J. (2015). Using incremental rehearsal to teach letter sounds to English language learners. *Education & Treatment of Children*, 38(1), 71–91. https://doi.org/10.1353/etc.2015.0000
- Rastle, K., & Taylor, J. (2018). Print-sound regularities are more important than print-meaning regularities in the initial stages of learning to read: Response to Bowers and Bowers (2018). *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Society*, 71(7), 1501–1505. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747021818775053
- Reardon, S. F., & Portilla, X. A. (2016). Recent trends in income, racial, and ethnic school readiness gaps at kindergarten entry. *AERA Open*, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858416657343
- Ren, H., & Ma, C. (2017). The impact of phonics instruction on pre-school learners' development in English language. *Advances in Computer Science Research*, 59. http://dx.doi.org/10.2991/emcm-16.2017.131
- Richards-Tutor, C., Baker, D., Gersten, R., Baker, S., & Smith, J. (2015). The effectiveness of reading interventions for English learners: A research synthesis. *Exceptional Children*, 82(2), 144–169.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402915585483

- Rinehart, J., & Short, P. (2010). Viewing reading recovery as a restructuring phenomenon. *Journal of School Leadership*, 20(1), 89–109. https://doi.org/10.1177/105268461002000107
- Roberts, T. A., & Sadler, C. D. (2019). Letter sound characters and imaginary narratives:

 Can they enhance motivation and letter sound learning? *Early Childhood*Research Quarterly, 46, 97–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.04.002
- Robinson, J. M. (2018). Evaluation of teaching methods to improve reading performance of English language learners. *Journal for the Advancement of Educational Research International*, 12(1), 25–33.
- Scanlon, D. M., Anderson, K. L., & Sweeney, J. M. (2016). Early intervention for reading difficulties: The interactive strategies approach. Guilford.
- Schryer, E., Sloat, E., & Letourneau, N. (2015). Effects of an animated book reading intervention on emergent literacy skill development an early pilot study. *Journal of Early Intervention*, *37*, 155–171. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815115598842
- Shah, R. (2019). Effective constructivist teaching in the classroom. *Journal of Education*, 7(4), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.34293/education.v7i4.600
- Simmons, D., Coyne, M., Hagan-Burke, S., Kwok, O., Simmons, L., Johnson, C., Zou, Y., Taylor, A., Mcalenney, A., Ruby, M., & Crevecoeur, Y. (2011). Effects of supplemental reading interventions in authentic contexts: A comparison of kindergarteners' response. *Exceptional Children*, 77(2), 207–228.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291107700204

- Smith, R., Ralson, N., Naegele, Z., & Waggoner, J. (2020). Team teaching and learning:

 A model of effective professional development for teachers. *Professional Educator*, 43(1), 80–90.
- Snyder, E., & Golightly, A. (2017). The effectiveness of a balanced approach to reading intervention in a second grade student: A case study. *Education*, *138*(1), 53–63. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1154642
- Snyder, E., Witmer, S., & Schmitt, H. (2017). English language learners and reading instruction: A review of the literature. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 61(2), 136–145.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2016.1219301
- Solari, E., Denton, C., & Haring, C. (2017). How to reach first-grade struggling readers:

 An integrated instructional approach. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 49(3), 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059916673296
- Sopko, K. (2010). Reading first programs: An overview. *Educational Resources*. *Information Center*, 1–9, ED467136. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED467136
- Spanou, S., & Zafiri, M.N. (2019). Teaching reading and writing skills to young learners in English as a foreign language. *Journal of Language and Cultural Education*, 7(2), 1339–4584. http://dx.doi.org/10.2478/jolace-2019-0009
- Spencer, M., & Wagner, R. (2018). The comprehension problems of children with poor reading comprehension despite adequate decoding: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 88(3), 366–400.

https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654317749187

- Stahmer, A., Oliver, K., & Schetter, P. (2020, February). *Improving education for California students via professional development*. Pace Policy Analysis for California Education. https://edpolicyinca.org/sites/default/files/2020-02/pb_stahmer_feb20.pdf
- Suortti, O., & Lipponen, L. (2014). Phonological skills and ability to perceive auditorily the structure of a word at the level of a single phoneme at ages 2-6. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, *14*(4), 510–533.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1468798413512847
- Taub, G., & Szente, J. (2012). The impact of rapid automatized naming and phonological awareness on the reading fluency of a minority student population. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 26(4), 359–381.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2012.712084
- Thoma, J. (2021). A model of professional development on phonics instruction: A case study of one midwestern district. *Journal of Education*, 20(1), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022057420903266
- Torgerson, C., Brooks, G., Gascoine, L., & Higgins, S. (2019). Phonics: Reading policy and the evidence of effectiveness from a systematic 'tertiary' review. *Research Papers in Education*, *34*(2), 208–238.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2017.1420816
- Torppa, M., Niemi, P., Vasalampi, K., Poikkeus, A. M., & Lerkkanen, M. K. (2020). Leisure reading (but not any kind) and reading comprehension support each

- other—A longitudinal study across grades 1 and 9. *Child Development*, 91(3), 876–900. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13241
- Treiman, R. (2018). What research tells us about reading instruction. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 19(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100618772272
- Vesay, J., & Gischlar, K. L. (2013). The big 5: Teacher knowledge and skill acquisition in early literacy. *Reading Horizons*, 52(3), 281–303. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/reading horizons/vol52/iss3/5/
- Vollebregt, M., Leggette, J., Raffalovitch, S., King, C., Friesen, D., & Archibald, L. (2021). Evidence for complementary effects of code- and knowledge-focused reading instruction. *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, *37*(3), 300–320. https://doi.org/10.1177/02656590211014246
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978), Mind in society: The development of higher mental processes.

 Harvard University Press.
- Whitbread, K., Knapp, S., & Bengtson, M. (2021). Teaching foundational reading skills to students with intellectual disabilities. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *53*(6), 424–432. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059920976674
- Wood, C. L., Mustian, A. L., & Lo, Y. (2013). Effects of supplemental computer-assisted reciprocal peer tutoring on kindergarteners' phoneme segmentation fluency.
 Education & Treatment of Children, 36(1), 33–48.
 https://doi.org/10.1353/etc.2013.0004

Yang, H. (2019). The effects of professional development experience on teacher self-efficacy: Analysis of an international dataset using Bayesian multilevel models.

*Professional Development in Education, 46(5), 797–811.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2019.1643393

Appendix: The Project

A 3-Day Professional Development Schedule, Agenda, and Formative Evaluation

Phonics & Phonemic Awareness

Professional Development Experience

Agenda: Day 1

I. Welcome

II. 8:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m.

- a. Organizing Letterland materials by unit.
- b. Teachers will create binders with all materials, forms, assessments, worksheet/workbooks, and CDs by unit.

All teachers must bring their Letterland Kit along with resources used with Letterland.

III. 11:00 a.m. to 11:15 a.m.

a. Break

IV. 11:15 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.

a. Cohorts will share with the larger group how they organized their Letterland materials by unit and what they included in each unit's binder.

V. 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m.

a. Lunch

VI. 1:00 p.m. to 1:45 p.m.

a. Model lesson on what is expected during the Letterland phonics and phonemic awareness block.

VII. 1:45 p.m. to 2:30 p.m.

a. Discuss and share ideas on how you can include all of the expected components in each lesson.

Phonics & Phonemic Awareness

Professional Development Experience

Agenda: Day 2

I. Welcome

II. 8:00 a.m. to 9:45 a.m.

 Information will be presented on how to assess students' phonemic awareness abilities and how to plan specific activities to address the needs of students.

III. 9:45 a.m. to 10:00 a.m.

a. Break

IV. 10:00 a.m. to 11:15 a.m.

 Teachers will practice assessing phonemic awareness skills with their assigned cohort and plan specific activities to address the varying needs of students.

V. 11:15 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.

a. Teachers will share and discuss their assessment results and activities that they created to address the varying needs of students.

VI. 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m.

a. Lunch

VII. 1:00 pm. to 2:15 p.m.

a. Presentation on Using Data to Drive your Phonics and Phonemic Awareness Instruction.

VIII. 2:15 p.m. to 2:30 p.m.

a. Summary and Reflections

Phonics & Phonemic Awareness

Professional Development Experience

Agenda: Day 3

I. Welcome

II. 8:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m.

a. Information will be presented on Intervention Training: Intervention Groups, Grouping Students and planning meaningful and purposeful intensive phonics and phonemic awareness instruction that makes a difference.

III. 10:00 a.m. to 10:15 a.m.

a. Break

IV. 10:15 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.

a. Teachers will have the opportunity to create meaningful lessons and activities for small group instruction.

V. 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m.

a. Lunch

VI. 1:00 p.m. to 2:00 p.m.

a. The Literacy Coach will present information on developing students' fluency rate, accuracy & automaticity.

VII. 2:00 p.m. to 2:30 p.m.

a. Summary and Reflections

8:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m.

Objective: Teachers will be able to organize and sort their *Letterland* Materials and Resources, by Unit, in order to implement the program effectively.

- Teachers will bring their Letterland kit, Materials and Resources to the Professional Development 3-day training.
- Teachers will work with their grade-level cohort to organized all of their Letterland materials and resources by unit.
- Teachers will create binders with all materials, forms, assessments, worksheets/workbook & CDs.

Clear and Park

Day 1

11:00 a.m. to 11:15 a.m.



Day 1

11:15 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.

Objective: Teachers will be able to discuss and share how they organized their *Letterland* materials and resources, by unit.

All first grade teacher cohorts will meet with the larger group to share how they
organized their Letterland materials and resources by unit, and what was included in
each unit.



1:00 p.m. to 1:45 p.m.

Objective: Model lesson of what is expected during the *Letterland* phonics and phonemic awareness block.

 The Literacy Coach will model the expectations of what is expected during the Letterland phonics and phonemic awareness block.



Day 1

12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m.



Day 1

1:00 p.m. to 1:45 p.m.

Objective: Model lesson of what is expected during the *Letterland* phonics and phonemic awareness block.

 The Literacy Coach will model the expectations of what is expected during the Letterland phonics and phonemic awareness block.



1:45 p.m. to 2:30 p.m.

Objective: Summary and Reflections

- Teachers will discuss the model lesson with their cohort and share ideas on how to include all
 components and expectations in each Letterland phonics and phonemic awareness lesson
 they teach.
- All cohorts will share their ideas with the larger group.



Day 2

8:00 a.m. to 9:45 a.m.

Objective: Assessing students' phonemic awareness abilities and planning specific *Letterland* activities to address the needs of individual students.

 The Literacy Coach will conduct a presentation to first grade teachers on assessing students' phonemic awareness abilities and how to plan specific Letterland activities to address the needs of individual students.



Day 2

9:45 a.m. to 10:00 a.m.



10:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m.

Objective: Teachers will practice assessing phonemic awareness abilities with their assigned cohort and plan specific *Letterland* activities to address the varying needs of their students.

- Teachers will practice with their grade-level cohort assessing phonemic awareness abilities.
- Teachers will create specific Letterland activities to address various phonics and phonemic



Day 2

11:30 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.

Objective: Teachers will be able to discuss and share *Letterland* activities that address the varying needs of their students.

 All first grade teacher cohorts will meet with the larger group to share Letterland activities that address the varying needs of their students.



1

Day 2

12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m.

Lunch



1:00 p.m. to 2:15 p.m.

Objective: Teachers will learn how to collect data that is meaningful in driving phonics and phonemic awareness instruction.

The Literacy Coach will conduct a presentation on how to collect data that is meaningful in driving phonics and phonemic awareness instruction.



13

Day 2

· 2:15 p.m. to 2:30 p.m.

Objective: Summary and Reflections

 Teachers will share with the larger group what they learned about collecting meaningful data to drive phonics and phonemic awareness instruction.



1

Day 3

8:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m.

Objective: Teachers will learn how to create Intervention groups, and plan meaningful intensive phonics and phonemic awareness instruction using data to drive their *Letterland* small group instruction.

 The Literacy Coach will conduct a presentation to first grade teachers on how to create intervention groups and plan meaningful intensive phonics and phonemic awareness instruction based on data.



· 10:00 a.m. to 10:15 a.m.



Day 3

10:15 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.

Objective: Teachers will create meaningful lessons and activities that address small group *intensive* phonics and phonemic awareness instruction.

 Teachers will work with their grade-level cohort on creating meaningful lessons and activities for small group intensive phonics and phonemic awareness using Letterland.



Day 3

12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m.



1:00 p.m. to 2:00 p.m.

Objective: Teachers will learn how to develop their students' fluency rate, accuracy & automaticity.

 The Literacy Coach will present information on how to develop their students' fluency rate, accuracy and automaticity.



11

Day 3

2:00 p.m. to 2:30 p.m.

Objective: Summary & Reflections

 Teachers will discuss and share with their grade-level cohort, activities that develop grade appropriate fluency & automaticity.



	Evalu	ation Fo	rm		
Professional Development	Lvaiu				
Check one: Teacher	Par	aprofessi	onal		
Administrator					
Please respond to each item by selecting the numb 5=excellent; 1=poor).	er whi	ich best o	lescribes	your op	inion
Impact on Instructio	nal Pr	actice			
Question	Ratin	ng			
Enhanced the educator's/school leader's content knowledge	5	4	3	2	1
Increased the educator's/school leader's teaching skills based on research/best practices	5	4	3	2	1
Provided information on assessment and data	5	4	3	2	1
Enhanced the participant's professional growth	5	4	3	2	1
Enhanced the participant's professional growth Improve/change how you will teach in the classroom		4 4	3	2 2	
Improve/change how you will teach in the classroom Participant Fee	5 dback	4			
Improve/change how you will teach in the classroom	5	4			1 1
Improve/change how you will teach in the classroom Participant Fee Question	5 dback Ratin	4 g	3	2	1
Improve/change how you will teach in the classroom Participant Fee Question Well organized	5 dback Ratin	4 g 4	3	2	1
Improve/change how you will teach in the classroom Participant Fee Question Well organized Objective clearly stated	5 Ratin 5 5	4 g 4 4	3 3 3	2 2 2	1 1

What would you like to receive future Professional Development on?

Date:	Unit #	Teacher:	Observer	Day
	Letter	land Fidelity Check – V	Whole Group	
<u>Day 1</u>				
Phonics Con	cept Review			
Children resp previous Uni		Cards (PCCs) or words	using phonics from	
Introduce N	ew Concepts			
interactively Children do A Word building	with children using vaction Tricks or role ag: Teacher makes we ger tap the sounds to	-play the story logic rela ords including new conc	ory logic' books, software, and son ted to new sounds or patt cepts with PCCs or softwa	erns.
Other childre		PCCs to form words. ds to read the words. n a sentence.		
Word Detec	<u>tives</u>			
Teacher read	s sentences to and w		v concepts. (May be completed Inde	p.)
Read Word	<u>Cards</u>			
•	•	Cards in columns related s at an increasing pace.	by phonic pattern.	
<u>Day 2</u>				
Quick Dash				
Children re plain letterTeacher goChildren re	espond to the picture with the sound. besthrough 10–15 places places with sounds.	•	and then the plain letter si or story logic and to the s, faster each time.	de
Letterland S	<u>Songs</u>			
Shared read	ding and singing. (No	ot in all lessons.)		

Date: Unit # Tea	acher:	Observer	Day
Letterland F	idelity Check	– Whole Group	
<u>Day 2</u>			
Live Spelling			
Teacher says a word, a sentence, and rep Children repeat the word and segment b the letters needed Children with PCCs form the word. Other children finger tap the word to ch	y finger tappin		
<u>Day 3</u>			
Guess Who			
Teacher keeps PCCs out of sight and say Children repeat sounds and write, air-tra		e the letters or characters	j
Word Sort			
Children take turns placing Word Cards After a child sorts a word, he or she poin for the class to read. Teacher and children may play Word So Teacher may guide children in rereading fluency with Tractors, Trains, Planes an	nts to all the wo ort Game earning the words a fe	ords in the column ng points as they sort. ew times to increase	<u> </u>
Story			
Teacher introduces the story. Teacher reads the story to the class. Teacher and children discuss the story.			
<u>Day 4</u>			
Quick Dash			
Teacher shows picture side of 4–8 recent Children respond to the picture with the plain letter with the sound. Teacher goes through 10–15 plain letter Children respond with sounds. (Option:	character name	e or story logic and to the	

Date:	Unit #	Teacher:	Observer	Day		
	Letterland Fidelity Check – Whole Group					
<u>Day 4</u>						
Red Robots Re	ading Race					
U		ng the Student List for t				
Teacher and chi	Idren reread the	Student List at least two	o more times at an increasi	ng rate		
Game of the W	eek (Children pl	ay of five word reading	games in pairs or threes.)			
Children read w	ord cards made f	for the gam or words on	the game board as they pl	ay		

Date:	Unit #	Teacher:	Observer	Day
	Letter	land Fidelity Check –	Small Group	
<u>Day 1</u>				
Teacher bui	lds words for readin	ng with Picture Code (Cards (PCCs) or Letter	Sound Cards
For some wo			ds. er tapping the word first,	
New Tricky	Words			
Children help Teacher mark Children prac	es the word and reads p decide which letters ks these sounds with ctice word with the '3 d several Tricky Word	s are not making their u wavy lines 3-by-3 Strategy'.	isual sounds.	
Read the Stu	udent List (Teacher p	provides list for each st	udent.)	
	s whole list or one sed the list or section.	ction at a time.		
Children reports for some worthe other children mal other letter so Children 'tou	eat word, a sentence, a eat word and finger to ords, one child is the ' ldren follow. ke the word with Lett ets.	np the sounds. Segmenting Leader' fine erland Word Builders (d of each letter or digra	(magnetic board or app)	or
Teacher show Children say If any children help them res say word but Continues ur	ws word, says it, wait the word. en miss a word, teach member it. On the sec waits 3 seconds, and atil children read all was g Tricky Words not c	then points for childre words correctly for two	ure of the word to Cards; teacher does not n to say it.	

Date:	Unit #	Teacher:	Observer	Day
	Lette	rland Fidelity Check –	Small Group	
Day 2				
Read Review	v Sentences (Steps 1	pelow are repeated with	4–10 sentences.)	
Teacher or ch Everyone rea	I a sentence to them hild asks a question ds the sentence in u hay take turns rereact	about the sentence.	pression.	
Day 3				
Dictate new	Tricky Words from	n current Unit (2–5 wo	rds)	
Teacher calls	children review Tric out words for child words are practiced	•	out again.	
Dictate one o	or two review sente	ences.		
Children writ	eat the sentence twice te the sentence. Teach	atural rhythm and expresse in the same way. The cher guides needed corresponded aloud when finished.	ections.	
Children Re	ad the Unit Story (Each child has a copy or	r shares one.)	
Teacher leads Children rere	re what they recall for schoral-reading of the ad the story with a pachildren discuss store	he story. partner.		
Day 4				
Share Home	work Sentences			
		t interesting sentence to h child's sentence and w	read aloud. That makes it interesting.	
Reread Unit	Story			
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	one or more of the followumble-reading, or partner	- ·	

Date:	Unit #	_ Teacher:	Observer	Day
	Letterlan	d Fidelity Check –	Small Group	
<u>Day 4</u>				
Spelling sort (Each of with Picture Coded le			d Sort for the Unit, or m	nakes their own
Teacher says a word. Children repeat the w Children choose the i Teacher encourages s	ord and finger to the column atching column	n and write the word	i.	
Children read comple		*		

Reference: Letterland International, Fidelity Checklists